BOLD OR BOXED?: TESTING FOR MORPHOLOGICAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN EASTERN BOX TURTLES (*TERRAPENE CAROLINA*) WITH INDIVIDUAL VARIATION IN BOLDNESS

by Clinton Robby Warren

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree of Masters of Science in Biology

Middle Tennessee State University
August 2022

Thesis Committee: Dr. Matthew Klukowski, Chair Dr. Amy Jetton Dr. Vincent Cobb

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Matt Klukowski, for his dedication towards the success of my research endeavors at Middle Tennessee State University (MTSU) as well as the value that I would gain from these experiences. Matt never shied away from an opportunity for me to learn and improve through experience and I can never thank him enough for caring about my growth as a biologist. I also give thanks to my committee members, Amy Jetton and Vincent Cobb, for their immeasurable patience and willingness to provide careful and valuable feedback on numerous aspects of this project and others. I would also like to acknowledge Jessi Vannatta, Victoria Preston, and Natalie Foster, who had worked with this population of turtles before me as members of the Klukowski lab and, in many ways, paved the way for this study. Additionally, this project would not have been possible without the aid of the MTSU Biology Department and approval from the MTSU Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, the Tennessee Wildlife and Resource Agency, and Rachel Singer of the Murfreesboro Parks and Recreation. There are many others who deserve gratitude for their support towards me personally, including my parents: Tina and Mark Shang, Robby and Leslie Warren; my siblings: Heather Mangrum, Gabriel Warren, Connor and Walker Shang; and my dear friend, Marc Wardell. Perhaps most of all I should thank my partner, Lily Medley, who, despite her aversion towards the smell of box turtles, gave her full support and uplifted my spirits on numerous occasions. Maintaining motivation would have been considerably more challenging without her encouragement. Lastly, I give my utmost appreciation to the box turtles of Nickajack for their incredible variety in morphology, coloration, and behavior. May their population continue to flourish.

ii

ABSTRACT

Consistent individual variation in behavior has become a well-known and recognized phenomenon across animal taxa and is commonly referred to as animal personality. As the number of animal species and populations exhibiting personality continues to grow, many researchers have turned their attention towards studying the proximate causes and fitness implications of personality traits. In behavioral ecology and evolution consistent differences in individual state (intrinsic and/or extrinsic) are often theorized to co-vary with animal personality traits. Relatedly, some research has suggested that animal personality may involve individual differences in coping styles (e.g., proactive vs reactive), pace-of-life, and behavioral plasticity. The eastern box turtle, *Terrapene carolina*, is a long-lived reptile that is relatively easy to track and recapture and may therefore present an interesting and accessible vertebrate model for studies of animal personality traits in the wild. Past studies on this species have suggested it exhibits boldness personality and that this trait may interact with temperature and shell damage but not sex, age, or morphology. This study sought to further explore boldness as a personality trait in wild T. carolina and these previously studied interactions in addition to body condition, pinch force, innate immunity, plasma triglycerides, steroid hormone concentrations, and gastrointestinal nematode loads. The results indicate that eastern box turtles display consistent bold personalities across individuals and suggests that less bold individuals tend to display higher levels of plasticity in their bold responses (emergence from the shell) than bolder turtles. Moreover, box turtles appear to have the ability to habituate to repeated handlings which may increase their likelihood to behave boldly in subsequent tests. Turtles that are consistently proactive in their use of active defenses

iii

during a potentially threatening encounter may be more vulnerable to predation as they appear less likely to tightly close the shell (had lower pinch force values). However, turtles with the inability to fully close the shell (regardless of boldness) may also suffer similar consequences. Interestingly, boldness appears to be largely independent of the short-term physiological variables considered in this study, although there was a negative trend between average eye emergence and body condition, suggesting turtles that emerge quicker (bolder) may have higher body conditions. Additionally, boldness appeared to be dependent on some short-term environmental conditions, such as cloud coverage and immediate shell temperature, but appears to be largely uncoupled from the daily temperatures experienced across several days. Lastly, daytime temperatures differed between sexes and negatively correlated with age, suggesting that turtles of these distinctions may thermoregulate differently. Daytime temperatures also exhibited nearly significant positive trends with shell injury scores and body condition meaning there could be differential consequences for thermoregulators and thermoconformers. Further studies are needed to better understand the implications of these interactions and their possible correlation with other potential personality traits like aggression and exploration.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xi
INTRODUCTION	1
A. INTRODUCING ANIMAL PERSONALITY	1
WHAT IS ANIMAL PERSONALITY	1
WHY STUDY ANIMAL PERSONALITY	2
APPROACHES TO STUDYING ANIMAL PERSONALITY	3
EVOLUTIONARY AND ECOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVES OF ANIMAL PERSONALITY	4
B. STUDY DESIGN INTRODUCTION: BOLDNESS PERSONALITY OF BOX TURTLES	7
PERSONALITY IN THE EASTERN BOX TURTLE, TERRAPENE CAROLINA	7
BOX TURTLES AS A MODEL FOR STUDYING BOLD PERSONALITY	8
WHAT TRADE-OFFS MIGHT BE ASSOCIATED WITH BOLDNESS IN BOX TURTLES?	10
STEROID HORMONE VARIATION AS A POSSIBLE CORRELATE OF BOLDN	JESS 12
IMMUNITY, PARASITES, AND FAT MOBILIZATION AS POSSIBLE CORRELATES OF BOLDNESS	14
FURTHER INVESTIGATION OF TEMPERATURE AS A CORRELATE OF BOLDNESS	15
STUDY OBJECTIVES	17
MATERIALS AND METHODS	18
STUDY SITE AND SUBJECTS	18
INITIAL CAPTURE AND ASSAY CONDITIONS	18
BEHAVIORAL ASSAYS	19
BOLDNESS CLASSIFICATION	21
DEMOGRAPHICS, MORPHOMETRICS, AND PINCH FORCE	23

ATTACHMENT AND REMOVAL OF RADIO TRANSMITTERS AND	
TEMPERATURE LOGGERS	24
TEMPERATURE DATA COLLECTION AND DIFFERENTIAL ESTIMATES.	24
BLOOD COLLECTION AND PROCESSING	25
SHELL DAMAGE ESTIMATES	26
FECAL COLLECTION AND PARASITE COUNTS	26
HEMOLYSIS IMMUNOASSAYS	28
PLASMA TRIGLYCERIDE CONCENTRATIONS	29
STEROID HORMONE ASSAYS	29
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	30
RESULTS	34
DEMOGRAPHICS	34
BEHAVIORAL OBSERVATIONS AND REPEATABILITY	35
BEHAVIORAL CATEGORIZATION	39
MORPHOLOGY	40
PINCH FORCE	40
SHELL INJURY SCORES	43
HEMOLYSIS SCORES	46
FECAL NEMATODES AND ECTOPARASITES	47
TRIGLYCERIDES	49
STEROID HORMONES	50
CARAPACE TEMPERATURE	57
DISCUSSION	63
SAMPLE DEMOGRAPHICS	63
REPEATABILITY OF BOLDNESS AND DIFFERENCES IN PLASTICITY	63
EFFECTS OF ASSAY CONDITIONS ON BEHAVIOR	65
MORPHOLOGY AND PINCH FORCE	67
PHYSIOLOGICAL MEASURES AND PARASITES	68

TEMPERATURE AND ITS INTERACTIONS WITH AGE, SEX, BODY COND AND INJURY SCORES	ITION, 71
LIMITATIONS OF PRESENT STUDY AND FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS	74
CONCLUSION	77
REFERENCES	80
APPENDIX	93
BOLDNESS CATEGORIZATION BY SIMPLE AND COMPILED METHODS.	93
AN OBSERVED ACCOUNT OF AGGRESSION	95

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. The number of adult eastern box turtles (<i>T. carolina</i>) in this		
	= 28) are shown for each boldness category and within their respective ag	<u></u> ge
	groups	5
Figure 2.	Eye emergence latency across all 28 turtle subjects)
Figure 3.	Average weight (\pm SE) of adult male ($n = 18$) and female ($n = 10$) turtles	
	of this study40)
Figure 4.	Turtles noted as unable or reluctant to withdraw into the shell had	
	significantly lower average pinch force (\pm SE) than those noted as quick	
	and able to withdraw (A; $p = 0.0091$)42)
Figure 5.	Each box turtle's average eye emergence latency plotted against their	
	pinch force value	;
Figure 6.	Each box turtle's average eye emergence latency plotted against their she	11
	injury score44	ŀ
Figure 7.	Each box turtle's average daytime temperature differential (A) or	
	volumetric body condition (B) plotted against their shell injury scores45	5
Figure 8.	Average (\pm SE) hemolysis scores for bolder ($n = 13$) and less bold ($n = 13$)	5)
	box turtles)
Figure 9.	Photographic examples of suspected nematode ova found in the fecal	
	matter of T. carolina using the Mini-FLOTAC method and light	

	microscopy at 20-40x	
		48
Figure 10.	Image of a single leech attached to the marginal scutes of a turtle's	
	carapace and near a radio transmitter (A) and after moving to the	
	underside of the marginal scutes (B)	48
Figure 11.	Average (\pm SE) plasma triglycerides differences across box turtle	
	categories of bolder males $(n = 8)$, less bold males $(n = 10)$, bolder	
	females $(n = 5)$, and less bold females $(n = 5)$	
		50
Figure 12.	Average baseline plasma corticosterone concentrations (\pm SE) in bo	lder
	and less bold box turtles	51
Figure 13.	Plasma corticosterone levels from bleeds ($n = 9$) of post-22 h confin	ement
	were significantly higher than baseline corticosterone levels (A; pair	red t =
	-5.721, p < 0.001)	52
Figure 14.	Average (\pm SE) plasma sex steroid concentrations in bolder and less	bold
	box turtles	54
Figure 15.	Relationships between the day bled for individual turtles and their p	lasma
	testosterone (A; males, $n = 17$) or progesterone (B; females, $n = 10$)	
	concentrations	55
Figure 16.	The average eye emergence of individual turtles plotted against thei	r
	calculated daytime temperature differential from a nearby surface	
	reference site	58

- Figure 17. Comparisons between male (n = 18) and female (n = 10) box turtles (A) and bolder and less bold of either male (B) or female (C) box turtles in their mean daytime temperature differentials (± SE) calculated as the difference between carapace temperature and the temperature of the environmental surface reference sites between 0900 and 1700 hrs.......60
- Figure 18. Temperatures of surface and air (5 cm above surface) iButtons from environmental stations plotted along with temperatures from iButtons mounted onto turtles during the 22nd (A) and 23rd (B) of May (late spring study period) from 0600 to ~23:0061
- Figure A1. Final scores of individual turtles by the compiled behavior method. Scores ranged very 0 4, with 4 being the boldest and 0 the least bold94
- Figure A3. Relationship between the average eye emergence of individual male box turtles and their baseline plasma testosterone (n = 17) concentration96
- Figure A4. Relationship between the average eye emergence of individual female box turtles and their baseline plasma progesterone (n = 10) concentrations ...96

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Various approaches to studying animal personality traits4
Table 2.	Behaviors recorded during each 3-minute handling period that occurred
	prior to the start of an observation period21
Table 3.	The basic demographics of turtle subjects in this study, including number
	of individuals in each sex and age class, as well as carapace length and
	body weight averages with ranges included
Table 4.	Results of the effects of assay conditions and non-behavioral
	characteristics on eye emergence of individual turtles from generalized
	linear mixed models
Table 5.	Correlation results between average behaviors recorded during the 3-min
	handling period (total defenses, score closed up) and the 10-min
	observation period (eye emergence, wrist emergence, and 1 m movement
	latencies) across individual turtles $(n = 28)$
Table 6.	Results of correlation analyses between plasma triglycerides, steroid
	hormones, body condition, hemolysis, injury scores, and/or fecal
	nematode counts
Table 7.	Multiple linear regression results showing the effects of age, sex (male),
	and volumetric body condition (vBCI) on temperature differentials
	calculated as the difference between box turtle carapace temperatures and
	nearby environmental reference sites over the entire study (FTD), daytime
	(DTD; 0900 – 1700), or nighttime (NTD; 2100 – 0500) periods59

INTRODUCTION

A. Introducing Animal Personality What is animal personality?

In recent decades, there has been increasing interest in measuring and describing behavioral variations that exist across individuals of animal species and populations. A growing number of these studies have placed particular focus on behavioral traits expressed with consistent and stable individual variation. These traits are commonly referred to as personality traits while species expressing such traits are said to exhibit 'animal personality', a term adopted from traditional studies of psychology involving individual differences in the behavioral tendencies of humans (Carter et al., 2010; Kaiser & Müller, 2021; Réale et al., 2007, 2010a, b; Stamps & Groothuis, 2010; Wolf & Weissing, 2012). Following early recognition of consistent individual variation in certain behaviors of non-human animals (e.g., see Gosling, 2001; Wilson, 1998; Wilson et al., 1993), many researchers of the behavioral sciences sought to describe these underlying personality traits. This has since been reflected by a growing number of animal personality studies in vertebrates and more recently, invertebrates (examples: insects: Tremmel & Müller, 2013; arachnids: Kwek et al., 2021; and mollusks: Dahirel et al., 2021; also see Kralj-Fišer & Schuett, 2014; Modlmeier et al., 2015). As such, animal personality is now a well-documented phenomenon in several major animal phyla (Kralj-Fišer & Schuett, 2014; Sih et al., 2004a; Sih et al., 2015; Wolf & Weissing, 2012). Today, there continues to be an increase in identified animal personality traits and recognized species with personality in general. Some of the most frequently cited personality traits relate to forms of aggression, exploration, boldness, and sociability,

1

however dozens of others have also been described (see reviews Gosling, 2001; Kaiser & Müller, 2021; Réale *et al.*, 2007).

Why study animal personality?

Although further describing personality traits across animal taxa remains a major goal today, many researchers within these fields have turned their attention to exploring the underlying causative effects, ecological relevance, and evolutionary implications. (Carter et al., 2010; Koolhaas et al., 2007; Réale et al., 2010a, b; Stamps & Groothuis, 2010; Wolf & Weissing, 2012). For behavioral ecologists, this often involves detailing the physiological and/or environmental factors that directly influence or interact with the expression of personality traits (e.g., Dall et al., 2012; Koolhaas et al., 2007; Sih et al., 2015). Research into these areas may shed light on the trade-offs associated with personality traits by demonstrating how the underlying behaviors interact with other phenotypic characteristics or change across ecological and developmental contexts (Carter et al., 2010). Indeed, studies have demonstrated animal personality traits as heritable (Ariyomo *et al.*, 2013; Dingemanse *et al.*, 2002) and capable of effecting survivability (Broecke et al., 2021; Hall et al., 2017a; Smith & Blumstein, 2008) and reproductive success (Ariyomo & Watt, 2012; Both et al., 2005; Vargus et al., 2018). The trade-offs of personality traits are therefore important to consider empirically given that they may influence fitness of the individual and their offspring.

Descriptions of the fitness implications of personality traits within the framework of selection theories may, for instance, help explain why individual members of a species or population will consistently differ in their methods and tendencies for aggression (e.g., Kwek *et al.*, 2021), territoriality (e.g., Amy *et al.*, 2010), courtship (e.g., Chen *et al.*, 2018; Li *et al.*, 2021; Munson *et al.*, 2020; Pogány *et al.*, 2018), sociality (e.g., Bergmüller & Taborsky 2010; Bull *et al.*, 2017; Gartland *et al.*, 2022), parenting (e.g., Lou *et al.*, 2021), feeding (e.g., Neave *et al.*, 2018), and dispersion (e.g., Cote & Clobert, 2007), among many other ecologically relevant behavioral phenotypes (also see Wolf & Weissing, 2012). If personality traits are dependent on differences in individual state (e.g., physiology, morphology, social status) and therefore interact with the individual's intrinsic and extrinsic environments, then further explaining how these traits perform in certain contexts may reveal more about when they are advantageous or harmful (Dall *et al.*, 2004; Dall *et al.*, 2012; Koolhaas *et al.*, 1999; Réale *et al.*, 2010a, b; Sih, *et al.*, 2015; Wolf & Weissing, 2012).

Approaches to studying animal personality

There are several different approaches to studying animal personality (Table 1). Although some studies choose to compare personality traits across species of varying relatedness (e.g., turtle species of different families in Ibáñez *et al.*, 2018), most personality studies to date instead highlight comparisons within a single species. In addition, such intraspecific studies might choose to investigate personality traits within or across populations depending on the aims of the study. For example, the withinpopulation approach may be valuable to understanding aspects of individual coping styles under similar environmental contexts, whereas the across population approach might detail differences in niche specialization that occur across populations living under different environmental contexts (e.g., see Dall *et al.*, 2012). The within-species approach also has additional options for study, such as within or across different sexes, developmental stages, age groups, or morphs of polymorphic species. In all regards, studies may conduct their behavioral tests under natural or laboratory conditions, or both (e.g., Wilson *et al.*, 1993). Each of these methods present potential advantages and limitations that will likely depend on the study organism, duration of study, and behavioral traits of interest. However, studies of personality traits within species under largely natural conditions can be especially valuable when considering the ecological implications and evolution of personality (Kaiser & Müller, 2021). For this study, the within-species approach was used to study adult male and female box turtles of a Middle Tennessee population in their natural forested wetland habitat.

First Level of Approach	Second Level of Approach	Recent Example Sources
I. The Across-Species	A. Across Distantly Related Species	Rey <i>et al.</i> (2021);
Арргоасн	phylum)	Winte <i>et al</i> . (2019)
	B. Across Closely Related Species	Carter & Feeney (2012);
	(e.g., same family or genus)	lbáñez <i>et al</i> . (2018)
II. The Within-Species	A. Across Populations	Brand <i>et al</i> . (2021);
Approach (May also investigate		Michelangeli <i>et al</i> . (2019)
within- or across sexes,	B. Within-Populations	Jolles et al. (2019); Kwek et
age, polymorphs, etc.)		al. (2021); Pogány et al.
		(2018; This study

Table 1. Various approaches to studying animal personality traits.

Evolutionary and ecological perspectives of animal personality

A stumbling block from the evolutionary view of animal personality results from

its puzzling origins and persistence throughout Animalia despite having obvious fitness

costs that could instead be mitigated by behavioral plasticity, in which the behavioral repertoires are flexible across contexts and adjust to better fit ecological and physiological demands (see Dingemanse *et al.*, 2010; Wolf *et al.*, 2008). In other words, when considering evolution by selection, the existence of personality within a group of animals might seem non-intuitive in comparison to more flexible behavior. It is possible that personality traits could impede the benefits otherwise offered by behavioral plasticity (e.g., see Dall *et al.*, 2012; Carter *et al.*, 2012). A central question might be why personality traits would evolve across so many taxa if suitable responses to environmental changes could instead be effectively assumed by all members of the group via behavioral plasticity? Would these personality differences not cause some individuals to be less suited to certain environmental circumstances than others and thus experience reduced fitness in those contexts?

Several studies of animal personality have begun to address this seemingly detrimental effect of personality traits and more critically examine the adaptive roles and evolutionary origins of both behavioral plasticity and animal personality (e.g., Carter *et al.*, 2012). This has led to more careful consideration of the underlying interactions important to personality and plasticity development and expression. This includes (although not limited to): (1) the possible correlations between consistent individual variation in state with consistent variation in behavior (Niemelä & Dingemanse, 2018; Pich *et al.*, 2019; Sih *et al.*, 2015), (2) the effects of past experiences (Frost *et al.*, 2007; Sih *et al.*, 2015) and early development (Rödel & Monclús, 2011; Trillmich *et al.*, 2018), (3) the reliability of environmental cues and how they might influence the evolution in behavioral flexibility (Carter *et al.*, 2012), and (4) where the underlying behaviors may fall in terms of a "plasticity-personality continuum" (Carter *et al.*, 2012). The latter may be especially important to address, as there are misconceptions which frame personality and plasticity as strictly opposing traits of animal behavior. However, studies suggest that species and populations could exhibit behavioral traits that consistently differ across personality types (among individuals) while also exhibiting behavioral plasticity within individuals (e.g., Carter *et al.*, 2012; Hall *et al.*, 2017b). Furthermore, because the degree and/or direction of behavioral plasticity can consistently vary among individuals, personality and plasticity may often co-vary. (e.g., Carter *et al.*, 2012, Dingemanse & Wolf, 2013; Hall *et al.*, 2017b; Wolf *et al.*, 2008). For example, bolder individuals of some fish species have been shown to exhibit less flexibility in their bold behaviors across repeated tests in comparison to their shier counterparts (Jolles *et al.*, 2019; Kareklas *et al.*, 2016; Magnhagen & Bunnefeld, 2009).

In behavioral and evolutionary ecology, a popular theory is that animal personality is an adaptive response to consistent differences in individual state, coping style, or pace-of-life (Dall *et al.*, 2004; Dall *et al.*, 2012; Koolhaas *et al.*, 1999; Réale *et al.*, 2010a, b; Sih *et al.*, 2015; Wolf & Weissing, 2012; although see Niemelä & Dingemanse, 2018). These individual-specific states are also likely to be shaped by early experiences and include variables that might be environmental, morphological, physiological, behavioral, or social in nature (Sih *et al.*, 2015). Specific differences in personality may then allow for a behavioral adaptation for one state or another and therefore be tightly linked to these other traits (cross-trait) or contexts (cross-context) (Pich *et al.*, 2019; Sih *et al.*, 2015; Sih *et al.*, 2010). Discovering these interactions may help explain the trade-offs of certain personality traits. For example, while being bold

may be highly adaptive in one context, it may be maladaptive in another (Carter *et al.*, 2010, 2012). Therefore, individuals that associate with the first context may tend to be consistently bolder than those that associate with the second, creating consistent individual variation across the group. This may be especially true when the onset of- or switch between- contexts is unpredictable (i.e., the environmental cues are unreliable), reducing the reliability of plasticity, and possibly providing an evolutionary advantage for populations that consistently produce various individuals suited for either context (Carter *et al.*, 2012; Sih *et al.*, 2004a, 2010). Moreover, a primary behavior underlying personality differences could be tightly linked to other beneficial secondary traits (cross-trait) and therefore be selected for when the advantages of this relationship outweigh any direct disadvantages (Pich *et al.*, 2019). In fact, 'behavioral syndromes', defined when a "suite of correlated behaviors" is expressed with consistent individual variation, are forms of cross-trait interactions that are frequently considered in animal personality studies (Bell, 2007; Sih *et al.*, 2004a, b; Sih *et al.*, 2010; Wolf *et al.*, 2010).

B. Study Design Introduction: Boldness Personality of Box Turtles

Personality in the eastern box turtle, Terrapene carolina

Personality, in which a set of related measurable behavior(s) exhibit consistently high variation between individuals and low variation within individuals, has been shown to exist in several non-mammalian vertebrates, including fish (e.g., Vargus *et al.*, 2018; Jolles *et al.*, 2019), frogs (e.g., Videlier *et al.*, 2018), salamanders (e.g., Moore & Nicholson, 2021), lizards (e.g., Carter *et al.*, 2012; Ward-Fear *et al.*, 2018), turtles (e.g., Allard *et al.*, 2019; Carter *et al.*, 2016; Ibáñez *et al.*, 2014), and birds (e.g., Hall *et al.*, 2017a; Pogány *et al.*, 2018). The eastern box turtle (*Terrapene carolina*) of the family Emydidae exhibits intraspecific and intrapopulation behavioral variations between individuals in risk-taking behaviors (i.e., "boldness") which have shown both temporal stability and contextual consistency within individuals (e.g., Carlson & Tetzlaff, 2020; Kashon & Carlson, 2018; Pich *et al.*, 2019; Preston *et al.*, 2020).

Aggression and exploration are often associated with boldness in vertebrates, including reptiles (e.g., Allard *et al.*, 2019; Carter *et al.*, 2010), and are also loosely reported in box turtles (Dodd, 2001; although see Stickel, 1989). Dodd (2001) states that "aggressive tendencies [in box turtles] seem associated with certain individuals", and explains that while some individuals remain docile, others are consistently prepared to fight. A study on the social and spatial aspects of *T. carolina* suggested that these turtles may also rely on neighbor recognition, stating that in general turtles tended to exhibit more aggressive and/or exploratory behavior towards unfamiliar conspecifics (Davis, 1981 unpublished dissertation; Dodd, 2001). Based on these few accounts, aggressive and exploratory behaviors could possibly represent personality traits in eastern box turtles and may be integral aspects of their social ecology. If this is true, aggressive and exploratory personality traits may also be correlated with boldness within a behavioral syndrome, as is often the case with these types of behaviors in other vertebrates (Kendall *et al.*, 2018; Mazué *et al.*, 2015).

Box turtles as a model for studying bold personality

Eastern box turtles (*Terrapene carolina*) are often long-lived, remain largely terrestrial, and typically exhibit small home ranges throughout life (Dodd, 2001; West &

Klukowski, 2016). Given that *T. carolina* is also relatively easy to handle, observe, and track in the wild, they might offer an exemplary vertebrate study system for animal personality research under natural testing conditions. The latter, trackability, is essential to personality research, as being able to resample the behavior of the animal is critical to testing the individual repeatability of behavior (Dingemanse & Wright, 2020). Indeed, box turtles have been successfully tracked via threading and telemetry methods (reviewed in Dodd, 2001) and because of their small home-ranges are relatively easy to recapture across days, seasons, or even years.

Recently, measures of boldness have become popular in personality studies of wild and captive turtles of various species (Allard *et al.*, 2019; Cassola *et al.*, 2020; Kashon & Carlson, 2018; Ibáñez et al., 2014, 2018). This is particularly interesting in species of *Terrapene*, as these turtles possess a shell with reduced plastral buttresses and a well-developed plastral hinge, which together give these turtles the ability to completely close the shell via a process known as "shell kinensis" (Cordero et al., 2018; Dodd, 2001). Therefore, these turtles can voluntarily withdraw their head and limbs within the shell and completely shut the anterior and posterior openings (although exceptions are observed, with some individuals seemingly being unable to fully withdraw and/or completely close the shell). This ability of *Terrapene* is believed to have evolved independently from other Emydids in concurrence with a shift to an increasingly terrestrial lifestyle by ancestral *Terrapene*. As such, this level of shell kinensis is not seen in other Emydids, all of which have remained primarily aquatic (Cordero *et al.*, 2018; Dodd, 2001). Even among extant turtles (Testudines) as a whole, this degree of shell kinensis is rare, with only two known genera, *Terrapene* and *Cuora* (of Geoemydidae),

possessing the ability to completely close the shell (Cordero *et al.*, 2018; Dodd, 2001). Given that these two genera collectively consist of roughly 20 species, the eastern box turtle is one of few turtles to have evolved this level of shell kinensis. Could it be possible that changes in behavioral phenotypes coincided with its evolution?

Boldness of turtles is often operationally defined by one or more of the following measures during or immediately after an encounter with an investigator or simulated predator: (1) the time it takes for the turtle to begin retreating into and/or close the shell, (2) the degree of head and limb retraction and shell closure, (3) the time that it takes, once withdrawn, to emerge and begin moving, (4) the distance the turtle moves over a certain time frame, and (5) the number of active defenses deployed (e.g., bites, urination/defecation, flee attempts) during or shortly after handling (see Carlson & Tetzlaff, 2020; Ibáñez *et al.*, 2014, 2018; Kashon & Carlson, 2018; Pich *et al.*, 2019; Preston *et al.*, 2020). Using these measures, studies are just beginning to explore the variations and fitness implications of boldness behaviors and personality types that exist within and across Chelonian species and populations.

What trade-offs might be associated with boldness in box turtles?

There are several possible trade-offs associated with boldness to consider in turtles, many of which might be expected for ectotherms in general. For example, while "bolder" individuals may be able to better secure territories, mates, food, or basking sites over shier counterparts, they may also be more likely to suffer from exposure-, predator-and/or combat-related injuries or infections by parasites (e.g., Carter *et al.*, 2010; Patrick *et al.*, 2017; Ward-Fear *et al.*, 2018). Such trade-offs involving reproduction and

survivability are consistent with predictions of the pace-of-life syndrome hypothesis, which would suggest that bolder individuals adopt a "live-fast, die young" pace of life (Broecke et al., 2021; Jacques-Hamilton et al., 2017; Réale et al., 2010b). As for box turtles in particular, Kashon & Carlson (2018) found that boldness in an Indiana population of T. carolina correlated with body temperature and shell injuries, in that turtles that tended to emerge quicker from the shell following confinement tended to have higher average body temperatures in comparison to "shier" individuals, but also tended to have higher (although non-significant) levels of shell damage. These findings indicated that while bold turtles may acquire the advantages offered from thermoregulation more so than their shy counterparts, they might also suffer higher levels of shell damage, the latter supposedly due to increased encounters with conspecifics and/or predators (Kashon & Carlson, 2018). If true, this could demonstrate some potential trade-offs for boldness in eastern box turtles. However, more recent follow-up studies from the same research group concluded that while temperature may influence emergence, it does not appear to be a strong determinant of the behavior (Carlson & Tetzlaff, 2020; Pich et al., 2019). Additionally, several other studies centered on the thermoregulation of box turtles suggest that they are largely thermoconforming rather than active regulators of body temperature (Parlin et al., 2018). In fact, investigations by Parlin et al. (2018) suggest that eastern box turtles, at least in their northern range of southwest Ohio, are "broad environmental generalists", with activity and movement patterns that are largely "independent of environmental conditions". Therefore, thermoregulation does not appear to be an integral advantage tied to boldness in *T. carolina*, and other benefits from boldness should be considered. Moreover, while increased conspicuousness and

predation are reasonable and likely costs of boldness behaviors by box turtles, others could also exist (e.g., parasitism). Because boldness behaviors of box turtles can be easily observed and measured in the wild, these traits should be further compared along with physiological (e.g., hormones, immune measures), and ecological (e.g., temperature) variables to elucidate any cross-trait or cross-context advantages and costs of bold personalities.

Steroid hormone variation as possible correlate of boldness

Steroid hormones often play critical roles in the development, expression, and life-history trade-offs of various traits in vertebrates, including turtles (reviewed in Blanvillain *et al.*, 2011). Corticosterone, the major stress hormone in reptiles, is involved in the adaptive response to long-term stressors, but also tends to exert numerous effects on development, activity, energy allocation, immune function, and overall health (Blanvillain *et al.*, 2011). Boldness personality and stress (short- and long-term) could therefore be linked in many ways. Indeed, studies have suggested that bolder, more "proactive" (characterized by active fight-or-flight behaviors during stressful situations) individuals exhibit different physiological pattens of stress, such as lower hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis activity, when compared to more timid, "reactive" individuals (Atwell *et al.*, 2012; Koolhaas, 2008; Koolhaas et al., 2007; Øverli et al., 2007; Thomson *et al.*, 2011). Measures of plasma corticosterone could indicate whether turtles with differing degrees of boldness differ in their stress physiology (e.g., Clary *et al.*, 2014; although see Fu *et al.*, 2021).

In addition to corticosterone, I also chose to investigate circulating levels of testosterone in males and progesterone in females. These sex steroids are likely to have important roles in mating and nesting behaviors by T. carolina during the period of this study (West & Klukowski, 2018). For example, testosterone is a well-studied hormone across reptilian (particularly lizards) taxa and in addition to its anabolic effects on growth, it also has many sex-specific functions such as the expression of male-typical secondary sexual characteristics and sexual-related behaviors (Hews et al., 2012; Hews & Moore, 1995; Hillsman et al., 2007; also see Blanvillain et al., 2011). Secondly, several studies have suggested testosterone to have an immuno-suppressing effect in at least some avian and non-avian reptiles, which could have far-reaching implications on infection (e.g., parasite loads) and overall health status (e.g., Belliure et al., 2004; Cox & John-Alder, 2007; Duffy et al., 2000; Tripathi & Singh, 2014). Although the effects of testosterone have not been well studied or demonstrated in Testudines, it is assumed to exhibit similar effects as observed in other reptilian and avian groups. Progesterone plays key roles in regulating uterine growth, calcification of shells during egg development, and reproductive cycles in females of oviparous reptiles (Custodia-Lora & Callard, 2002; Custodia-Lora et al., 2004a, b; Kawazu et al., 2014; Blanvillain et al., 2011). Specifically, progesterone tends to have a periovulatory increase in oviparous reptiles, falling just after ovulation during the shelling process (Blanvillain et al., 2011). This increase in progesterone may assist in inhibiting further estrogen-induced vitellogenesis (regulating the reproductive cycle), stimulation of the final processes for follicular maturation and ovulation, and possibly slowing oviductal contractions for shelling deposition to occur (Custodia-Lora & Callard, 2002; Custodia-Lora et al., 2004a, b;

Blanvillain *et al.*, 2011). Testosterone also appears to play important reproductive roles in female turtles from regulation of reproductive cycles (Custodia-Lora *et al.*, 2004a; Blanvillain *et al.*, 2011) to physiological constraints on egg size (Bowden *et al.*, 2004), however testosterone was not measured in females of this study.

Immunity, parasites, and fat mobilization as possible correlates of boldness

Because boldness behaviors might be associated with locomotor activity (Fu et al., 2021; Wilson & Godin, 2010), exploration (Michelangeli et al., 2019; Patrick et al., 2017), and dispersion (Fraser et al., 2001), there may be several indirect (e.g., via steroid hormones, acquired parasites) effects of boldness on immune function and energy mobilization (e.g., fats) in box turtles (West & Klukowski, 2018). One aspect of the innate immune response in reptiles involves the lysis of foreign and potentially pathogenic antigens by natural antibodies and the complement system (Baker *et al.*, 2019; Zimmerman, 2020; Stromsland & Zimmerman, 2017). This aspect of immunity can be quantitatively assessed via a hemolysis immunoassay in which foreign red blood cells are mixed with the plasma of the vertebrate subject for subsequent scoring of lysis (Baker et al., 2019; West & Klukowski, 2018). Given that parasitism could interact with immunity (e.g., Stromsland & Zimmerman, 2017), stress (e.g., Raouf et al., 2006), and locomotion (Binning et al., 2017), it too may be a consequence of boldness in reptiles. Although wild eastern box turtles are rarely observed to be parasitized by ectoparasites (e.g., ticks or mites), endoparasites such as gastrointestinal nematodes are commonly reported (albeit in low prevalence (Moraga et al., 2012; Rose et al., 2011)) and may therefore influence the health and behavior of host turtles when under high loads of parasitism (Barber &

Dingemanse, 2010). Finally, because individuals with differing levels of boldness may differ in their levels of anabolic steroid hormones, daily activity, and metabolic rate (Hau & Goymann, 2015; Koolhaas *et al.*, 1999; Mathot *et al.*, 2018; Careau *et al.*, 2008), the concentration of plasma lipids, such as triglycerides, could provide insight into whether bolder turtles are mobilizing energy differently from less bold individuals during this active season (West & Klukowski, 2018). This could be especially important in female box turtles as plasma triglycerides are known to increase during vitellogenesis and nesting in other turtle species (Duggan *et al.*, 2001; Hamann *et al.*, 2002; West & Klukowski, 2018).

Further investigation of temperature as a correlate of boldness

Lastly, while studies of box turtle thermoregulation have largely suggested these turtles to be thermoconforming, few studies have investigated the links between temperature and behavior in *T. carolina*. As ectotherms, many turtles rely on thermoregulation by behavioral means. Indeed, thermoregulation likely serves several functions in turtles, including (but not limited to) locomotion and righting ability (Elnitsky & Claussen, 2006), effectiveness of innate and adaptive immune responses (Merchant *et al.*, 2012; Palackharry *et al.*, 2017; Zimmerman, 2020; Zimmerman *et al.*, 2017) behavioral defenses, such as biting (Vervust *et al.*, 2011), and the induction of "behavioral fevers" (Monagas & Gatten Jr, 1983; Rakus *et al.*, 2017). It is also possible that individual turtles differ consistently in their preferred temperatures or temperature sensitivity, which could be linked to personality traits (Michelangeli *et al.*, 2017). For example, the Australian delicate skink (*Lampropholis delicata*) exhibits consistent

"thermal types" (on a cold-hot continuum) based on preferred temperatures, and these thermal types relate to consistent individual variation in activity, exploration, and boldness (Michelangeli *et al.*, 2017, 2019; Goulet *et al.*, 2017a, b). Given that the activity required for bold, exploratory, and aggressive behaviors should be dependent on environmental temperatures in turtles, an interaction between thermal type and personality traits could exist.

Thermal habitat selection should also be important for nesting and ovipositing females not only for its effects on offspring survival (Refsnider *et al.*, 2022) but also because *T. carolina*, like most turtles, exhibit temperature-dependent sex determination (TSD), meaning the environmental temperature is a critical driver for sexual differentiation of developing embryos (Dodd, 2001; Ewert & Nelson, 1991). Although the pivotal temperature(s) at which sexual differentiation transitions to male or female bias have not been well documented for box turtles, one source states that *T. carolina* eggs incubated in the lab under constant temperatures below ~28°C produced primarily males (although ratios become slightly less male biased at even cooler temperatures of ~22.5°C but remain above 70% male) whereas eggs incubated at 30°C produced exclusively females (Dodd, 2001). This suggests *T. carolina* likely has a single transition zone for biasing one sex or another somewhere between 28 and 30°C (Dodd, 2001), however, more work on TSD in box turtles is needed to determine the exact pivotal temperature(s) and pattern of sexual differentiation.

As suggested in Kashon and Carlson (2018), bolder box turtles may thermoregulate at a higher average temperature than their shy counterparts, which could provide bold individuals with any of the above-mentioned benefits. I sought to further test the potential interaction between temperature and boldness behaviors of box turtles by collecting continuous temperature data from the carapaces of turtles and nearby reference sites in the field to then calculate each turtle's differential temperature from the reference sites. Additionally, I examined potential interactions between thermoregulation and nematode loads, shell damage, or plasma steroid concentrations.

Study objectives

My study had two major objectives: (1) to test for the existence of boldness personalities in wild box turtles of a middle TN population using boldness measures comparable with those of previous studies (Kashon & Carlson, 2018), and (2) This study attempted to identify traits correlated with boldness in adult *T. carolina* turtles through investigations of thermoregulation, shell damage, immunoassays, parasite loads, triglyceride levels, body condition, and steroid hormone concentrations. When applicable, these variables are discussed in terms of their cross-trait relationships with boldness and how such interactions might explain the trade-offs of boldness personality types in box turtles. In general, this study aims to shed light on the potential evolutionary advantages and costs presented by bold personalities in this chelonian species.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study site and subjects

In this study male and female adult eastern box turtles (*T. carolina carolina*) were sampled from a 23.5 ha forested wetland preserve in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, USA (West & Klukowski, 2016). Four sets of seven turtles (28 total) were captured and tested in behavioral assays between May and mid-August of 2021. Subjects were tested 5 times over an average of 17.9 days (range: 15 - 30 d) to evaluate consistencies in their behavior during and immediately following handling. A minimum 3-day recovery period occurred between behavioral assays to reduce the likelihood that turtles would habituate to interactions with the investigator (similar to Kashon & Carlson, 2018). All capture and behavioral assays occurred between 0900 and 15:30 CDT. In an attempt to prevent the spread of ranavirus (Preston *et al.*, 2020), fresh nitrile gloves were used when handling each turtle and all equipment was cleaned between use by applying a 5% bleach solution for 60 sec.

Initial capture and assay conditions

Following initial capture, each turtle was placed individually into a plastic bucket, transported to the MTSU vivarium, and kept overnight (< 24 hours) within their respective buckets at ~22°C. Turtles were kept on a 12:12 h day/night cycle of incandescent lighting while in captivity. During this time the turtles were physically and visually secluded from other turtles captured that day, however they could likely hear and smell one another. Turtles were only handled during their overnight stays to capture photographs and fecal samples as well as to attach a radio transmitter (RI-2B Holohil

Systems, Ontario Canada) and a Thermochron® iButton temperature data logger (DS1921G, Maxim Integrated, San Jose, CA) (see details below). In less than 24 h from their initial capture, turtles were returned to their capture sites $(\pm 2 \text{ m})$ to undergo the first behavioral assay and subsequent release. Following the first assay, tracking and behavioral testing commenced for 4 additional captures with at least a 3-day recovery period between each. Recovery periods were often scheduled so that turtles would have two 3-day recovery periods and two 4-day recovery periods in-between tests, although several turtles experienced 5-to-6-day recovery periods and one turtle (which moved onto private property) had 22 days between two consecutive tests (average: 4.3 days; range: 3 - 22 days). This latter individual was only tested for a total of 4 assays rather than five. Measures of assay conditions were also collected for each capture event including an immediate infrared temperature reading (Etekcity Infrared Thermometer 749) from the carapace at the anterior-most vertebral scute, the time of day, and a ranking of sky conditions between 0 and 3 using the following criteria: 0 = mostly clear skies, 1 = partlycloudy or variable skies, 2 = cloudy overcast with few if any breaks between clouds, and 3 = rainy. Middle scores were sometimes given for sky conditions that were intermediate, such as a 2.5 for a cloudy day with light rain.

Behavioral assays

Behavioral assays were based largely on methods established by Kashon & Carlson (2018), albeit with slight modifications to stimulus delivery and further inclusion of additional behavioral responses. To begin an assay the turtle was picked up and handled for 3 minutes at the site of capture. During handling I would conduct pseudomeasurements of the carapace and plastron using calipers to measure carapace length, width, plastron width, and plastron length in this order and repeating until the end of the 3-minute period (typically 6 to 8 cycles, but this varied depending on how active a turtle was during handling). Over this handling period I took note of any active defenses deployed by the turtle, which included the number of snaps, bites, and events of urination, defecation, and air walking (see Table 2 for more details). Additionally, turtles were assigned a score from 0-5 during each handling period based on the time it spent closed up in the shell. A turtle was assigned 0 if it remained completely in the shell over the entire handling period, with each increase in score corresponding to roughly 36 secs out of the shell up to approximately 180 sec (entire handling period) for a score of 5. Half scores were also given to turtles that had intermediate times out of the shell. Finally, if the subject was not fully closed by the 3-minute mark of handling, I would poke the turtle on the skin of its front legs or snout until nearly full closure occurred. Some turtles appeared incapable of completely closing the anterior and posterior openings simultaneously, having to sacrifice exposing gaps on one end to close the other. For these turtles, I settled for a state of mostly closed to begin the observation period, prioritizing closure on the anterior side.

Once at least mostly closed and by the end of the 3-min handling period, the subject was gently placed on the ground under partial or full shade and within 1.0 - 1.5 m of available shelter (e.g., thick vegetation or creek embankment) near the last site of capture. I then rapidly retreated approximately 10 m away where I quietly, with minimum body movement, observed and recorded the turtle's subsequent behavior for 10 mins with the aid of binoculars. Over this observation period, the occurrence of behaviors and their

timing to the nearest sec were noted: (1) the eye emergence latency, corresponding to the time at which the turtle extended its head so that the eyes surpassed the anterior margin of the carapace (Kashon & Carlson, 2018); (2) the wrist emergence latency, determined as the time at which the wrists of the front limbs extended out from their tucked position between the carapace and plastron; and (3) the 1 m movement latency, determined as the time at which the turtle reached 1 m in distance after opening its shell. Typically, turtles would conduct these latency behaviors in this order (if at all). If one of these behaviors did not occur during the 10-min observation period, it was given a latency score of 600 sec.

Table 2: Behaviors recorded during each 3-minute handling period that occurred prior to the start of an observation period. The first 3 behaviors were considered "active defenses" while hisses were considered as a separate behavior possibly relating to rapid withdrawal into the shell.

Snaps/Bites	The turtle attempts to or successfully bites the investigator	
Urination/Defecation	There is an event of urination and/or defecation by the turtle	
Air Walking The turtle kicks its legs back and forth (typically all 4 legs)		
Hisses An audible hissing noise is made by the turtle		

Boldness classification

Two methods of boldness categorization were used, (1) a simple method and (2) a compiled behavior method. In the former, eye emergence latency, a behavioral measure that had high repeatability (see results), was averaged and turtles that emerged in ≤ 100 seconds were classified as 'bolder' while turtles with average eye emergence times > 100

seconds were classified as 'less bold'. This cut-off was chosen because of a distinct shift in among assay variance between individuals with either average eye emergence before or after 100 sec, with the latter exhibiting higher variance across assays. In the compiled behavior method, individual turtles were classified as either 'bolder' or 'less bold' by ranking five behavioral responses across each of the 5 tests and taking the sum of these scores over the total possible. These five behaviors were ranked as either 0, 0.5, or 1 (for the three timed/latency behaviors), or as 0 or 0.5 (for the two yes/no behaviors) (see Table A1). Because the yes/no behaviors carry less information about the turtle's response to the handling, I weighed them with less contribution to the final points than the timed/latency behaviors. After combining the points possible from these five behaviors, each turtle was assigned a score between 0 and 4 for each test. This was then averaged across tests so that each turtle had an average value for the compiled behavior method which could be compared with results from the simple method. Following Cassola et al. (2020) in this scoring system, with lower scores corresponded to the 'less bold' category (final boldness score < 2) and higher scores corresponded to the 'bolder' category (final boldness score ≥ 2). Bolder individuals emerge from their shell and begin moving quicker than their shier counterparts (Kashon & Carlson, 2018; Pich et al., 2019) following handling, confinement, or simulated predator encounters, and quicker emergence positively correlates with higher deployment of active defenses (e.g., bites, urination, defecation, and flee attempts) during simulated predation attempts (Pich et al., 2019).

Because the two above methods agreed in boldness categorization of individuals for all but one turtle, analyses between 'bold' and 'less bold' categories were based solely on the placement of individuals by the simpler method of eye emergence latency. However, the five key behaviors for the more complicated, compiled behavior method and the placement of turtles by this method can be found in the appendix section (Table A1, Fig. A1).

Demographics, morphometrics, and pinch force

Individual turtles were sexed by presence or absence of plastron indentations. Male eastern box turtles typically possess a deep concavity of the plastron that assists in mounting and copulation, whereas females have a flat or very shallow indentation. This character was distinct for 25 out of 28 of our turtles. Because the other 3 turtles possessed slight concavities and plasma testosterone concentrations consistent with other males, I also categorized them as males. The age of individual turtles was estimated by counting annuli (rings) across 3 carapace scutes and then taking the average of these counts. Each turtle was also placed into an age class based on age ranges, following West & Klukowski (2016) although excluding juvenile ranges. Therefore, adult turtles were placed into one of three age classes: 10-14 yrs, 15-19 yrs, or 20+ yrs.

Upon initial capture, the turtles were immediately measured for their morphometrics using a spring scale for weight and 200 mm calipers for shell dimensions. The latter included straight-line carapace length (CL), maximum carapace width (CW), and maximum shell height (SH). Shell dimensions were primarily used to calculate a volumetric body condition index (vBCI) for each individual turtle, estimated as: vBCI = Weight/($\pi \square$ CL \square SH \square (CW/6000)) (Ashton *et al.*, 2015; Preston *et al.*, 2020). Lastly, each turtle was tested for its maximum pinch force in lbs. (subsequently converted to kg) just prior to its final release. This was conducted by inserting a pinch gauge dynamometer (Baseline® 30 lb Pinch Gauge, Catalog no. 12-0200, Fabrication Enterprises Inc. White Plains, NY) between the carapace and plastron at the anterior gap of the shell while poking and prodding the turtle on the snout and front limbs to elicit closure onto the gauge.

Attachment and removal of radio transmitters and temperature loggers

Radio transmitters and iButtons[®] were attached onto the posterior end of the carapace, oriented largely on each of the posterior-most costal scutes, just above the posterior marginal scutes. The side of the iButtons exposed to the environment were covered with a black rubber coating (Plasti Dip[®], Blaine, MN) while the underside of both transmitters and iButtons were attached directly to the carapace by a thin layer of Epoxy (Loctite[®], Westlake, OH). Immediately after the final test and bleeding procedure, iButtons and transmitters were removed using a pocketknife and any additional epoxy was carefully scraped off from the turtle's shell. No obvious alterations to the underlying shell were caused by the adhesive. Additionally, while turtles traversed a variety of microhabitats, such as creeks, horse pastures, mudflats, and forests, all iButtons and transmitters remained functional and firmly attached to subjects over the study duration (average: 18 days; range: 15 - 30 days).

Temperature data collection and differential estimates

In addition to the iButtons attached to subjects, two environmental stations consisting of 4 iButtons each were established at separate locations on the field site. Each environmental station was placed in a forested area with high shade throughout the day.
Environmental iButtons were completely coated in Plastidip and placed near a tree as follows: (1) buried 10 cm under the soil surface, (2) directly on the ground but under leaf litter, (3) 5 cm suspended off the ground, and (4) 1 m suspended off the ground. Shell and environmental iButtons were programmed to simultaneously record temperatures every 30-minutes from the shell (hereafter called T_{Shell}) or the environment (air or surface, hereafter collectively called T_E), respectively.

Temperature readings from the two environmental surface iButtons (hereafter called $T_{ESurface}$) were averaged and used to calculate each turtle's temperature differential. A turtle's full study temperature differential (FTD) was calculated by subtracting the average T_{Shell} from the average $T_{ESurface}$ over the turtle's involvement in the study. Specifically, the FTD spanned from ~30 min after the first behavioral observation to ~30 min before the final behavioral observation. Additionally, each turtle's average daytime and nighttime temperature differentials (DTD and NTD, respectively) were calculated as the difference between the $T_{ESurface}$ and T_{Shell} recorded during each day (0900-1700 h) and night (2300-0500 h) across the turtle's involvement in the study.

Blood collection and processing

Immediately following their final behavioral assay, blood was collected from each subject at the subcarapacial sinus using a 25-gauge needle and 1.0 mL syringe (Preston *et al.*, 2020). All blood collection occurred from morning to mid-day between 1020 and 1450 hrs. The time to bleed ranged between 90 and 443 s (mean: 197 s). An average of 830 μ L (range: 230 – 2000 μ L) of whole blood was collected from each turtle and placed into heparinized microcapillary tubes which in turn were immediately placed on ice

within a sealed thermos. These samples were then taken to the lab within 5 h of collection where they were immediately centrifuged at 1000 g for 10 minutes. The resulting blood plasma was carefully separated from the red blood cells and frozen at -80°C. Plasma samples were later used to obtain hemolysis immunoassay scores and levels of plasma triglycerides and steroid hormones (see below). Furthermore, 9 of 28 turtles were housed in the vivarium a second time following their final behavioral test and initial blood collection. These turtles remained in their respective buckets ~20-to-22 h and were then returned to their last site of capture in the field where they were bled a second time (between 0900 – 1345 h) and released. The time to bleed during this 2nd bleeding event ranged from 131 to 595 sec (mean: 314 sec). The second blood sample from these 9 turtles was used to test their corticosterone stress response to ~ 22 h confinement.

Shell damage estimates

Shell damage was estimated for the carapace and plastron of each turtle by dividing the shell component into 4 quadrants and ranking each quadrant's damage between 0 and 3 before taking the sum of the four quadrants of both elements for a final shell damage estimate. Following Saumure *et al.* (2007), the damage of each quadrant was determined as 0 = no damage, 1 = little superficial damage to the scute layer, 2 = deep or substantial damage to the scute layer or margins of the shell, but no damage to the underlying bone, or 3 = damage to the scute layer and the underlying bone.

Fecal collection and parasite counts

Fecal samples were collected when first noticed upon defecation by a turtle when housed in their individual buckets. Fecal samples were preserved in 5% formalin (2 g of

feces per 2 mL of formalin) for up to 45 days maximum (average: 36 d; range: 23-45 d). Counts of fecal nematodes were accomplished by manual counts of eggs/oocysts from collected fecal matter via the Mini-FLOTAC® technique (e.g., see Marangi et al., 2020). For this study, 40 ml of an FS7 (zinc sulfate; specific gravity = 1.350) flotation solution was homogenized in the Fill-FLOTAC (size #2) device with 2 g of fecal matter per individual turtle and preserved in 2 ml of 5% formalin. This mixture was then squeezed directly from the Fill-FLOTAC device into the Mini-FLOTAC disc chambers as described in the manufacturer's instructions (see Cringoli *et al.*, 2017). By turning the "key" of the Mini-FLOTAC disc, a thin layer containing the floating parasitic elements was separated from the remaining solution and most of the fecal debris. This was then visually scanned for 1-side of the disc (24 grids, 1 ml homogenized fecal fluid) beneath a light microscope and the number of parasitic elements were counted. Suspected parasitic elements were often difficult to identify and discern from artifacts. As a result, I chose to prioritize and report only on counts of nematode ova which were more easily discernable (Wolf *et al.*, 2014). One nematode of potential interest was the ova of microcapillarids (Fig. 8), which appeared to be very common in the box turtles of this study. However, microcapillarids are not well documented in the literature, and are thought to be nematodes of unknown pathogenicity (Klingenberg, 2016). For this reason, I used nematode counts that included and excluded microcapillarids for any analyses involving parasites.

Individual turtles were also visually scanned on the skin and shell during the initial and final captures for the presence of ectoparasites, such as ticks, mites, and leeches. Although ectoparasites appear to be largely absent in *T. carolina* (Moraga *et al.*,

2012; Rose *et al.*, 2011), few if any studies have considered the presence of ectoparasites from wetland populations of *T. carolina* in Middle Tennessee.

Hemolysis immunoassays

To investigate differences in innate immunity between turtles, a hemolysis immunoassay was conducted in which the plasma of each subject was mixed with diluted rabbit red blood cells (RBC's) in a 96-well plate to observe the subsequent lysis of the blood cells by the turtle's natural antibodies and complement system (Baker *et al.*, 2019; Ferronato et al., 2009; Matson et al., 2005; Merchant et al., 2006; West & Klukowski, 2018). In this assay, rabbit blood in Alsever (Lampire, #7206403) was washed 4X in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) to achieve a dilution of 1% RBC's. Freshly thawed turtle plasma (15 μ l) was diluted in 15 μ l of PBS (0.01M) and further serially diluted by homogenizing and transferring 15 μ l of the resulting mixture to subsequent columns already containing 15 μ l of PBS (0.01M). This resulted in a dilution of 1:2 in the first column to a dilution of 1:2048 in the final column. Next, 15 µl of 1% RBC's were added to all wells and the hemolysis plates were allowed to sit at 24°C for 3 hours before being scored. Lysis was determined by comparing turtle samples to a positive control row containing RBC's in deionized water and a negative control column containing RBC's in PBS solution only. Scoring was conducted by estimating the titer as the log₂ of the highest dilution factor of plasma that showed lysis and could range from a score of 1 to 11 (following Matson et al., 2005; West & Klukowski, 2018). Half scores were given for titers that appeared at intermediate levels of lysis. Turtles with higher hemolysis scores

were considered to have better lysing capabilities than those with lower scores. Hemolysis scoring was conducted blind to the boldness categorization.

Plasma triglyceride concentrations

Plasma triglyceride levels were also estimated for each turtle using the same plasma sample collected immediately following the final behavioral assay. This was done by adding 10 µl of recently thawed plasma to 1 mL of a pre-warmed triglyceride reagent (No. T7532, Pointe Scientific, Inc., Canton, MI) and incubating at 37°C for 20 min (following West & Klukowski, 2018). Following incubation, the triglyceride concentration was estimated from each sample by recording their absorbance values along with that of a 200 mg/dL triglyceride standard using spectrophotometry at 500 nm.

Steroid hormone assays

Plasma corticosterone (No. K014-H1, Arbor Assays, Ann Arbor, MI), testosterone (No. ADI-900-065, Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., Farmingdale, NY), and/or progesterone (No. ADI-900-011, Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., Farmingdale, NY) concentrations were measured via separate competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbant assays (ELISA). All turtles were tested for plasma CORT concentrations (n = 28; intraassay CV = 5.6% (Preston *et al.*, 2020)) whereas only males were tested for testosterone (n = 18; intra-assay CV = 7.8%) and females for progesterone (n = 10; intra-assay CV = 4.9%). Comparisons between boldness categories in plasma testosterone was for males only and in plasma progesterone for females only due to the respective sex-specific functions and concentrations of these hormones in most vertebrates. Plasma CORT was also measured a second time in nine turtles which underwent a ~22 hr period of confinement following their initial bleeds to then be bled a second time in the field before being released.

Statistical analyses

Data was statistically analyzed within the statistics program R (R Core Team, 2014) while graphs and tables were constructed using Microsoft© Excel. Normality of the distribution for samples was determined *via* the Shapiro-Wilk normality test (Shapiro & Wilk, 1965) with a significance cut-off of $\alpha = 0.05$. Samples determined to be normally distributed were analyzed by parametric tests while non-normally distributed samples were analyzed by their analogous non-parametric versions. When necessary, the variance equality between variables was determined using the Levene's test (Levene, 1960). Significance was determined by evaluation of confidence intervals (CIs) for generalized linear mixed models or p-values for linear regression, student T, Wilcoxon rank-sum, and correlation analyses. In all cases, significance was determined when CIs did not include zero or if p-values were less than 0.05.

Individual repeatability of eye emergence and 1 m movement latency were individually assessed using generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) fit with maximum likelihood (following Kashon & Carlson, 2018). These GLMMs were modeled with and without the effects of either assay conditions or non-behavioral phenotypic differences as fixed effects. Individual turtle identity was considered a random effect in all models. To first gain estimates of effect by random and fixed effects, the GLMM was computed using the *glmer* function from the "lmer" R package. Next, the *rpt* function from the "rptR" package was utilized to obtain link-scale estimates of repeatability (*r*) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) via non-parametric bootstrapping of 1000 iterations to evaluate individual repeatability of the behaviors and their significance, respectively. Lastly, the significance of fixed effects from GLMMs accounting for assay conditions or nonbehavioral phenotypic characteristics were similarly assessed by obtaining 95% CIs via non-parametric bootstrapping of 1000 iterations using the *confint* function. For GLMMs modeling the effects of assay conditions, infrared shell temperature, sky condition, and time of day were included as fixed effects, and for those modeling the effects of nonbehavioral phenotypic differences, sex, best count age, carapace length, and vBCI were included as fixed effects. In the latter, best count age and carapace length were log transformed to re-scale and normalize their values.

Linear regressions or generalized linear regression (GLR; non-parametric) were conducted to test the predictive effect of emergence behavior, body condition, age, sex, and/or temperature on the following ecological outcome variables: full temperature differential (FTD), daytime temperature differential (DTD), nighttime temperature differential (NTD), and shell injury score. First, average eye emergence was tested as a predictor variable on FTD, DTD, and NTD in separate simple linear regression models. This was conducted to test if turtles that emerge quicker on average regulate their body temperature or sustain shell damage differently from those that emerge more slowly. Second, to test for the effects of age, sex, and body condition on temperature, multiple linear regression analyses were conducted with FTD, DTD, or NTD as the outcome variable and age (best count) + sex + vBCI as predictor variables. Lastly, to test the effects of eye emergence, temperature, body condition, and age on injury scores, average eye emergence, FTD, DTD, NTD, vBCI, and best count age were used as predictor variables in simple or multiple GLRs with injury scores as the outcome variable. In cases where several simple and multiple GLRs were tested, the best fit model was determined by comparing all models and their residual deviances within a Chi-Square test, using the *anova* function with the command *test* = "*Chisq*" in R. Results for linear regression and GLRs are reported with a β and a p-value for each predictor variable to represent the estimated effect and significance, respectively. The R² values are also reported for linear regression models to show the percent explained by the respective variables.

To determine if any differences in behavioral, physiological, and ecological measures existed between the sexes and boldness categories (based on average eye emergence), I conducted either Two-Sample Student T-tests or Wilcoxon rank-sum tests in R. Choosing between these tests was dependent on whether the sampled data for the variables being compared were normally or non-normally distributed, respectively, which was determined by the Shapiro-Wilk's test. More specifically, these tests were used to compare male and female, or bold and less bold, individuals in regard to their morphometrics, vBCI, temperature (FTD, DTD, & NTD), steroid hormones, triglycerides, hemolysis scores, injury scores, and nematode counts. These tests were input with equal variance as true when a Levene's test provided p > 0.05 (*leveneTest*) function of the R package "Car"). Aside from testosterone and progesterone, the sexes were pooled for comparisons between boldness categories when no difference between the sexes was indicated for that variable. However, if a difference between the sexes was indicated, they were tested separately for comparisons between boldness categories. Finally, a single paired T-test was run to analyze the change in plasma CORT between the first (baseline) and second (post-22-hour confinement) bleeds.

Lastly, several correlation analyses were conducted using the *cor.test* function in R *via* either the Pearson or Spearman method depending on if the two variables were normally or non-normally distributed, respectively (as determined by the Shapiro-Wilk test). This was conducted within and between behaviors recorded during the 3-min handling and 10-min observation periods, as well as within and between morphological and physiological measures. Furthermore, correlations were conducted to investigate the relationship between hormone measures and the date bled (using the Julian calendar) as well as the relationship between CORT values of consecutive bleeds. For correlation results, R_P and R_S delineate direction and strength of the relationship as either Pearson correlation or Spearman rho values, respectively. Positive or negative R_P or R_S values indicate negative or positive relationships, respectively, while p-values determine significance of the relationship (p < 0.05 considered significant).

RESULTS

Demographics

Sexing of individuals by intensity of the plastron concavity revealed 18 of our 28 turtles (~64%) were males and the remaining 10 (~36%) were females (Table 3). The majority (~64%) of our adult turtles captured were between 15-19 yrs in age, with a quarter (25%) of subjects falling into the younger age class of 10-14 yrs, and even fewer (~11%) falling into the older 20+ age class (Table 3). The presence of three age classes was found to be similar between the sexes (W = 70.5, p = 0.28) and between boldness categories (W = 73.5, p = 0.20; Fig. 1).

Variable	Category	Sample size (<i>n</i>) or mean (with range)
Sex	Males	<i>n</i> = 18
	Females	<i>n</i> = 10
Age class	10-14	<i>n</i> = 7
	15-19	<i>n</i> = 18
	20+	<i>n</i> = 3
Carapace Length (mm)		130.9 (120 - 145)
Weight (g)		415.8 (295 - 535)

Table 3: The basic demographics of turtle subjects in this study, including number of individuals in each sex and age class, as well as carapace length and body weight averages with ranges included.



Figure 1: The number of adult eastern box turtles (*T. carolina*) in this study (total n = 28) are shown for each boldness category and within their respective age groups. The number of individuals within each category is displayed above their respective bars.

Behavioral observations and repeatability

The time it took to extend the eyes past the anterior margin of the shell (eye emergence latency) following the start of a behavioral trial was found to exhibit high repeatability within individual turtles (r = 0.77, 95% CI = [0.614, 0.856]; Fig. 2), as indicated by the CI that does not include zero. This repeatability in eye emergence latency remained after accounting for both assay conditions (r = 0.82, 95% CI = [0.68, 0.891]) and non-behavioral phenotypic characteristics (r = 0.75, 95% CI = [0.516, 0.813]). Similarly, the latency to move 1 meter following the start of a behavioral trial also showed significant individual repeatability (r = 0.58, 95% CI = [0.356, 0.699]), although to a lesser extent than eye emergence (wider CI and lower r value). This repeatability remained relatively stable for 1 meter movement latency after accounting

for assay conditions (r = 0.62, 95% CI = [0.412, 0.746]) and non-behavioral phenotypic characteristics (r = 0.56, CI = [0.279, 0.661]).



Figure 2: Eye emergence latency across all 28 turtle subjects. Open circles indicate eye emergence values from individual assays and colored circles indicate the average of those assays. Eye emergence latency was found to exhibit significant repeatability across behavioral assays within individuals (r = 0.77, 95% CI = [0.614, 0.856]). The first 13 turtles with average eye emergence values ≤ 100 sec (dashed line) were considered 'bolder' (red circles) and the last 15 turtles with average eye emergence values > 100 sec were considered 'less bold' (blue circles).

Based on the GLMMs, 3 of the 4 assay conditions considered had significant negative effects on eye emergence (Table 4). This includes the test number ($\beta = -0.068$, CI = [-0.079, -0.056]), immediate infrared shell temperature ($\beta = -0.062$, CI = [-0.069, -0.054]), and sky code ($\beta = -0.048$; CI = [-0.066, -0.030]). Meanwhile, the time of day tested had no significant effects on eye emergence in this model ($\beta = 0.007$, CI = [-0.007, 0.019]). It should be noted that immediate infrared shell temperature and sky code were found to be significantly negatively correlated ($R_s = -0.241$, p = 0.0045) and it may therefore be redundant to include both within this model. On the other hand, none of the

non-behavioral phenotypic characteristics had significant effects on eye emergence in the

GLMMs (CIs all include zero; Table 4).

Table 4: Results of the effects of assay conditions and non-behavioral characteristics on eye emergence of individual turtles from generalized linear mixed models. Predicted effect of the variable is indicated by β , with directionality indicated by the presence or absence of a negative sign. Significant fixed effects are in bold, as determined by the 95% confidence intervals (CI) that do not include zero.

	β	95% CI
Assay conditions		
Time of Day	0.007	(-0.007, 0.019)
Sky Code	-0.048	(-0.066, -0.030)
IR Shell Temp (°C)	-0.062	(-0.069, -0.054)
Test Number	-0.068	(-0.079 <i>,</i> -0.056)
Non-behavioral characteristics		
Sex	0.487	(-0.751, 1.586)
Age Best Count	1.700	(-2.085, 4.980)
Carapace Length	-4.449	(-15.794, 7.166)
vBCI	-3.095	(-10.014, 3.254)

A multiple linear regression with average eye emergence latency as the outcome variable (rather than eye emergence for each assay) indicated that neither age, sex, nor vBCI significantly predicted average eye emergence (p > 0.1 for all). However, when tested separately in a simple linear regression model, vBCI was nearly a significant negative predictor for average eye emergence (p = 0.076, R_P = -0.34, R² = 0.082), but this explained very little of the variation in average eye emergence.

Correlation analyses indicated significant positive correlations between time spent closed during handling, eye emergence, wrist emergence, and 1 m movement latencies at the level of average behaviors across the 28 individual turtles (n = 28; Table 5).

Furthermore, correlation analyses revealed that the total defenses employed during handling were negatively correlated with eye emergence, wrist emergence, and 1 m movement latency (Table 5). Therefore, the individual turtles that were out and actively employing defenses against the investigator during handling were also those that emerged and began moving the quickest during the subsequent observation period.

The most common active defense employed by turtles was air kicking, which occurred in 11 (out of 28) turtles and across 33 (out of 139) behavioral assays. Snaps and bites were employed by only a single turtle, but this subject was consistent, employing snaps and bites for 4 of its 5 behavioral assays (total: 18). Urination and/or defecation events were employed by only four turtles, with two employing this defense during only one of their 5 behavioral assays and the other two turtles employing it across 2 separate assays. One of these latter turtles was also the same subject that employed snaps and bites. Although it was not considered an active defense in this study, hissing was well noted across the majority of turtles (23/28) and behavioral assays (76/139). Often hisses accompanied rapid movements of the head and/or limbs into the shell and may therefore be a side effect of these rapid body movements rather than an active defense.

Table 5: Correlation results between average behaviors recorded during the 3-min handling period (total defenses, score closed up) and the 10-min observation period (eye emergence, wrist emergence, and 1 m movement latencies) across individual turtles (n = 28). All correlations involving score closed up or total defenses were conducted using the Spearman rho's test, whereas correlations between other behaviors were conducted using the Pearson's correlation. All behaviors were significantly correlated with p-values less than 0.05. Negative relationships are distinguished from positive ones by a preceding negative (–) sign for the rho value.

Behavioral Variables	Rho (<i>Rs or Rp</i>)	p-value
Total Defenses x Eye Emergence	-0.81	< 0.0001
Total Defenses x Wrist Emergence	-0.77	< 0.0001
Total Defenses x Latency 1 m Movement	-0.71	< 0.0001
Score Closed Up x Eye Emergence	0.74	< 0.0001
Score Closed Up x Wrist Emergence	0.65	< 0.0001
Score Closed Up x Latency 1 m Movement	0.58	< 0.001
Eye Emergence x Wrist Emergence	0.84	< 0.0001
Eye Emergence x Latency 1 m Movement	0.83	< 0.0001
Wrist Emergence x Latency 1 m Movement	0.94	<0.0001

Behavioral categorization

Thirteen turtles were categorized as bolder with average eye emergence latencies of ≤ 100 secs whereas the remaining 15 turtles were classified as 'less bold' with average eye emergence latencies > 100 secs. The average standard deviation in eye emergence across assays for the bolder and less bold groups were 20.83 sec (range: 0 – 60.71) and 102.07 sec (range: 32.46 – 207.68), respectively. Therefore, eye emergence exhibited higher variability across assays in less bold turtles than bolder turtles. The variability in eye emergence was relatively similar between sexes, with an average standard deviation of 61.48 for males (range: 2.68 – 207.68) and 69.51 sec for females (range: 0 – 142.63).

Morphology

Female turtles were significantly heavier on average than males (t = 2.29, df = 26, p = 0.03; Fig. 3). However, no weight differences were detected between boldness categories in males (t = 0.84, df = 16, p = 0.42) or females (t = -1.24, df = 8, p = 0.25). Carapace length was similar between sexes (t = -0.35, df = 26, p = 0.73) and boldness categories (t = -0.87, df = 26, p = 0.40). Likewise, the calculated volumetric body condition was similar between sexes (t = 1.73, df = 26, p = 0.096) and between bolder and less bold turtles of pooled sexes (t = 1.16, df = 26, p = 0.26).



Figure 3: Average weight (\pm SE) of adult male (n = 18) and female (n = 10) turtles of this study. On average, females were significantly heavier than males (t = 2.29, df = 26, p = 0.03).

Pinch force

Interestingly, three turtles were noted as seemingly incapable of completely closing both the anterior and posterior gaps of the shell simultaneously, often leaving one end open at the expense of closing the other (one bolder, two less bold; one 15-19 y.o.

female, one 15-19 y.o. male, one 20+ male). Additionally, six others (all bolder; two 10-14 y.o. females, two 15-19 y.o. females, two 15-19 y.o. males) were consistently reluctant to close, requiring several pokes and prods by the investigators to get the near complete closure necessary to obtain a pinch force reading. Because those either incapable or largely unwilling to fully close the shell (n = 9) would be expected to have lowered pinch force, I looked for differences in pinch force between them and the remaining turtles (n = 19). As expected, turtles noted as incapable or unwilling to close the shell had significantly lower mean pinch force than those without this distinction (t =2.82, df = 26, p-value = 0.0091; Fig. 4A). When tested across all individuals (n = 28), including those noted as incapable or unwilling to close, there was no difference between sexes in pinch force (t = 0.85, df = 26, p = 0.41). However, after excluding those noted as incapable or unwilling to close (n = 19), the difference in pinch force between sexes was nearly significant (t = 1.99, df = 17, p = 0.063; Fig. 4B). Average eye emergence and pinch force were positively correlated, with turtles emerging slower on average predicted to have a slightly higher pinch force ($R_P = 0.38$, p = 0.045; Fig. 5). Despite this, 'bolder' and 'less bold' turtles had similar pinch force, although the mean was higher in the less bold group both when including all turtles (t = -1.69, df = 26, p = 0.103) and after excluding those incapable or unwilling to close (t = -0.018, df = 17, p = 0.99).



Figure 4: Turtles noted as unable or reluctant to withdraw (two 10-14 y.o. females, three 15-19 y.o. females, three 15-19 y.o. males, one 20+ male) into the shell had significantly lower average pinch force (\pm SE) than those noted as quick and able to withdraw (A; p = 0.0091). In turtles quick and able to withdraw, however, there was no difference between male and female turtles, although females were nearly significantly greater in their average pinch force than males (p = 0.063; B).



Figure 5: Each box turtle's average eye emergence latency plotted against their pinch force value. Average eye emergence was significantly correlated with pinch force ($R_P = 0.38$, p = 0.045).

Shell Injury Scores

Injury scores were similar across sexes (W = 96, p = 0.77) and across bolder and less bold categories when sexes were pooled (W = 91.5, p = 0.78). Correlation analysis indicated average eye emergence was not significantly related to shell injury scores (p = 0.85; Fig. 6). In a generalized linear regression, FTD, DTD, and vBCI were significant predicters of injury scores in a positive manner. Including DTD and vBCI in a model together was determined as the best fit model from those possible (p < 0.0001). However, only DTD remains significant in this best fit model, an effect that may be largely driven by 3 turtles that had daytime differentials between 4 and 5°C above the surface temperature and injury scores between 4 – 7, while all other turtles had injuries scores below 3 (Fig. 7B). In summary, this model predicts that turtles maintaining warmer temperatures (and possibly higher body condition) will be more likely to have higher shell injury scores. Correlation analyses also indicated a trend for injury scores to be positively correlated with FTD ($R_S = 0.34$, p = 0.075), DTD ($R_S = 0.37$, p = 0.054; Fig. 7A), and vBCI ($R_S = 0.35$, p = 0.067; Fig. 7B), although these trends appeared to be biased by the three turtles with the highest injury scores, as the trends disappear after the removal of these outliers (p > 0.35).



Figure 6: Each box turtle's average eye emergence latency plotted against their shell injury score. Average eye emergence was not significantly related to shell injury score ($R_S = 0.038$, p = 0.85).



Figure 7: Each box turtle's average daytime temperature differential (A) or volumetric body condition (B) plotted against their shell injury scores. Injury scores nearly positively correlated with daytime temperature differentials ($R_S = 0.37$, p = 0.054) and volumetric body condition ($R_S = 0.35$, p = 0.067). Daytime temperature differential was also a significant predictor of injury score in the generalized linear regression (p < 0.0001).

Hemolysis scores

Hemolysis of sheep RBCs occurred in all plasma samples of turtles following 3 h of incubation. The mean hemolysis across all turtles was 4.0 and ranged from 2.0 to 6.0. Agglutination was not apparent in any samples for the 3 h scoring, although signs of agglutination appeared after 5 h of incubation. Male and female turtles did not differ significantly in their hemolysis scores (t = -0.29, df = 26, p = 0.78) and, after pooling across sexes, hemolysis scores remained similar between bold and less bold turtles (t = 1.72, df = 26, p = 0.098; Fig. 8). Hemolysis scores also did not correlate with average eye emergence (p = 0.28), or with either vBCI (p = 0.47) or injury scores (p = 0.75) (Table 6).



Figure 8: Average (\pm SE) hemolysis scores for bolder (n = 13) and less bold (n = 15) box turtles. No significant difference was found between the categories (t = 1.72, df = 26, p = 0.098).

Fecal nematodes and ectoparasites

Fecal nematode counts that included and excluded microcapillarids were not correlated ($R_s = -0.126$, p = 0.70). Additionally, both of these counts were similar between sexes (including microcapillarids: t = -0.49, df = 10, p = 0.64; excluding microcapillarids: W = 34.5, p = 0.20) and boldness categories (including microcapillarids: t = 0.49, df = 10, p = 0.64; excluding microcapillarids: W = 18.5, pvalue = 0.52). In general, microcapillarids were the most common nematode for 11 out of 12 turtles for which they were counted (see Fig. 9). Other nematode ova frequently noted were suspected to be "pinworms" or "hookworms", such as those in the order Oxyurida or suborder Strongylida, respectively. Parasite counts did not correlate with vBCI, however there was a negative trend between parasite counts (including microcapillarids) and injury scores ($R_s = -0.53$, p = 0.078) (Table 6). Only a single ectoparasite was observed: a leech, believed to be a smooth turtle leech (Placobdella parasitica) (McCoy et al., 2007) (Fig. 10), was found on a single turtle and remained attached to the shell for at least one week in the late summer, although it moved several times to different locations on the plastron and marginal scutes of the carapace.



Figure 9: Photographic examples of suspected nematode ova found in the fecal matter of *T. carolina* using the Mini-FLOTAC method and light microscopy at 20-40x. (A-C) suspected pinworm ova (e.g., order Oxyurida) (D) a suspected hookworm ova (e.g., suborder Strongylida), (E) individual microcapillarids (arrows), (F) an aggregate of microcapillarids.



Figure 10: Image of a single leech attached to the marginal scutes of a turtle's carapace and near a radio transmitter (A) and after moving to the underside of the marginal scutes (B). The leech remained on the turtle for at least one week and moved between the upper and lower sides of the carapace on several occasions.

Triglycerides

Females exhibited significantly higher triglyceride levels than males (mean males = 38.23 mg/dL; mean females = 184.04 mg/dL) (W = 168.5, p = 0.00018) and were therefore tested separate from males for comparisons between bolder and less bold categories. However, there were similar triglyceride levels between bolder and less bold males (W = 53, p = 0.27) and females (t = 0.36, df = 8, p = 0.73) (Fig. 11). Plasma triglycerides did not correlate with average eye emergence ($R_S = -0.212$, p = 0.28). Triglycerides also did not correlate with hemolysis scores, injury scores, or nematode counts, but they were nearly positively correlated with vBCI (p = 0.079) (Table 6).



Figure 11: Average (\pm SE) plasma triglycerides differences across box turtle categories of bolder males (n = 8), less bold males (n = 10), bolder females (n = 5), and less bold females (n = 5). Although the sexes differed in plasma triglycerides (W = 168.5, p = 0.00018), there was no significant difference between the boldness categories within either sex (p > 0.05).

Steroid hormones

Baseline plasma CORT levels were found to be similar between the sexes (W =

108, p = 0.41) as well as between bold and less bold turtles (W = 109, p = 0.62; Fig. 12).

Additionally, average eye emergence and baseline CORT were not correlated (Rs = -

0.061, p = 0.76) (Fig. A2).



Figure 12: Average baseline plasma corticosterone concentrations (\pm SE) in bolder and less bold box turtles.

Plasma CORT increased following 22-h of laboratory post-confinement (paired t = -5.72, df = 8, p < 0.001; Fig. 13A). Of the 9 turtles bled a second time, 6 were males and 3 were females, while 4 were categorized as bolder and 5 as less bold. The difference in CORT between baseline and post-confinement bleeds did not significantly differ between the sexes (W = 10, p = 0.91) or between boldness categories (W = 16, p = 0.19; Fig. 13B).



Figure 13: Plasma corticosterone levels from bleeds (n = 9) of post-22 h confinement was significantly higher than baseline corticosterone levels (A; paired t = -5.721, p < 0.001). However, the change in corticosterone, calculated as the difference in corticosterone between the first and second bleeds, did not significantly differ between bolder and less bold turtles (B; W = 16, p = 0.19).

Similar to CORT, no differences between bold and less bold turtles were found for testosterone in males (W = 35, p = 1; Fig 14A) or progesterone in females (W = 17, p = 0.40; Fig 14B). In addition, average eye emergence was not correlated with plasma testosterone (p = 0.46) or progesterone (p = 0.85) concentrations (Fig. A3-S4). However, testosterone of males was found to be significantly positively correlated with date bled ($R_s = 0.59$, p = 0.015; Fig. 15A) with individuals bled later in the season (late July- early August) having higher concentrations of testosterone than those bled earlier in the study (late May – June). This relationship was not found for date bled and the progesterone of females, although I sampled fewer females and largely lacked female blood samples from mid-June to mid-July ($R_s = 0.39$, p = 0.27; Fig. 15B).



Figure 14: Average (\pm SE) plasma sex steroid concentrations in bolder and less bold box turtles. No difference was indicated between categories for either testosterone in males (A; W = 35, p = 1) or progesterone in females (B; W = 17, p = 0.40).



Figure 15: Relationships between the day bled for individual turtles and their plasma testosterone (A; males, n = 17) or progesterone (B; females, n = 10) concentrations. Plasma testosterone was higher in turtles bled later in the summer ($R_S = 0.59$, p = 0.015). Day bled had no significant relationship with progesterone ($R_S = 0.39$, p = 0.27).

Table 6: Results of correlation analyses between plasma triglycerides, steroid hormones, body condition, hemolysis, injury scores, and/or fecal nematode counts. No significant correlations were found. Cells shaded in light blue gray indicate nearly significant trends between the respective variables, with p-values slightly above 0.05.

Variable x Variable Relationship Tested	rho (<i>R_P or R_s</i>)	Ν	p-value
Plasma Triglycerides x Plasma CORT	0.24	28	0.226
Plasma Triglycerides x Plasma Testosterone	-0.25	17	0.326
Plasma Triglycerides x Plasma Progesterone	0.05	10	0.879
Plasma Triglycerides x vBCI	0.34	28	0.079
Plasma Triglycerides x Hemolysis Score	0.11	28	0.576
Plasma Triglycerides x Injury Score	0.03	28	0.864
Plasma Triglycerides x Nematode Counts (incl. microcaps)	-0.26	12	0.423
Plasma CORT x Plasma Testosterone	0.17	17	0.515
Plasma CORT x Plasma Progesterone	0.3	10	0.399
Plasma CORT x vBCl	0.0049	28	0.981
Plasma CORT x Hemolysis Score	0.30	28	0.118
Plasma CORT x Injury Scores	0.23	28	0.234
Plasma CORT x Nematode Counts (incl. microcaps)	-0.29	12	0.366
Plasma Testosterone x vBCl	-0.13	17	0.612
Plasma Testosterone x Hemolysis	0.17	17	0.515
Plasma Testosterone x Injury Scores	-0.22	17	0.403
Plasma Testosterone x Nematode Counts (incl. microcaps)	0.14	12	0.803
Plasma Progesterone x vBCI	0.0061	10	0.987
Plasma Progesterone x Hemolysis	0.42	10	0.222
Plasma Progesterone x Injury Scores	-0.034	10	0.924
Plasma Progesterone x Nematode Counts (incl. microcaps)	-0.051	10	0.935
Hemolysis x vBCl	0.14	28	0.467
Hemolysis x Injury Scores	0.06	28	0.749
Hemolysis x Nematode Counts (incl. microcaps)	0.25	12	0.432
Injury Scores x vBCI	0.35	28	0.067
Injury Scores x Nematode Counts (incl. microcaps)	-0.53	12	0.078

Carapace temperature

Representative environmental and carapace temperatures for bolder and less bold turtles of each sex are shown in figures 18 and 19. Simple linear regression analyses suggested average eye emergence was not a significant predictor of temperature, including FTD (p = 0.18), DTD (p = 0.25; Fig. 16), and NTD (p = 0.22). When comparing between sexes and boldness categories, females exhibited significantly higher FTD (t = 2.27, df = 26, p-value = 0.032) and DTD (t = 2.16, df = 26, p = 0.04; Fig 17A) values compared to males. The NTD of males and females were similar (t = 1.32, df = 26, p = 0.20), suggesting the difference between sexes in FTD is primarily explained by their temperature differences in the DTD. Within either sex, there was no difference between bold and less bold turtles in FTD (males: t = 1.30, df = 16, p = 0.21; females: t = -0.26, df = 8, p = 0.80) or DTD (males: t = 1.19, df = 16, p = 0.25; females: -0.53, df = 8, p =0.62). Likewise, bolder and less bold turtles did not differ in their NTD after pooling for sex (t = 1.36, df = 26, p = 0.19).



Figure 16: The average eye emergence of individual turtles plotted against their calculated daytime temperature differential from a nearby surface reference site. Male turtles are indicated by open circles and female turtles by shaded circles. There were no significant relationships between the daytime temperature differential and average eye emergence of males ($R_P = -0.20$, p = 0.42) or females ($R_P = -0.06$, p = 0.87), nor when sexes were combined ($R_P = -0.22$, p = 0.25).

Multiple linear regressions indicated both age (best count) and sex to be significant predictors for full study and daytime temperature differentials, with increasing age and males having a negative effect (Table 7). Similar results were found when age and sex predictor variables were tested separately, but in all cases the adjusted R^2 was higher when they were both included in the model together. Indeed, females had a higher FTD and DTD than males but the ages of each sex in this study were similar (t = -0.554, df = 26, p = 0.584), suggesting this to be true effects of sex and age on temperature rather than a bias of age within a sex. Conversely, neither age nor sex significantly predict nighttime temperature differentials, although age was nearly significant (p = 0.07 when alone or p = 0.094 when sex included).

Interestingly, integrating vBCI into the models slightly increases the explained portion of the percent of variation in temperature, but sex and vBCI become nonsignificant (albeit nearly significant for vBCI (p = 0.087)). Removing sex from the model then causes vBCI to become significant, suggesting these variables are likely related. Correlation analyses indicated no correlation between age and vBCI, suggesting that vBCI's effects on FTD are largely uncoupled from the effects of age. Although the t-tests revealed no significant sex differences in vBCI, females did tend to have higher vBCIs (p = 0.09) which may explain the similar explanatory power between sex and vBCI on temperature in the multiple linear models. Therefore, the effect of sex on FTD and DTD may be more directly explained by the effects of volumetric body condition.

Table 7: Multiple linear regression results showing the effects of age, sex (male), and volumetric body condition (vBCI) on temperature differentials calculated as the difference between box turtle carapace temperatures and nearby environmental reference sites over the entire study (FTD), daytime (DTD; 0900 – 1700), or nighttime (NTD; 2100 – 0500) periods. Younger, higher body condition, or female turtles were predicted to have higher temperature differentials (experience warmer temps) during the full study and daytime periods than their older, lower body condition, or male counterparts, respectively. This was not true of nighttime periods, although age was also nearly a significant predictor for NTD (p = 0.094). Similar results were found when predictor variables were tested separately, but in all cases the adjusted R² was higher when included together. Significance is indicated by bold values.

outcome var ~ predictor variables	β1, β2, β3	Adjusted R ²	p-values: var1, 2, 3
FTD ~ Age + SexM	-0.10, -0.395	0.345	0.005, 0.033
DTD ~ Age + SexM	-0.189, -0.784	0.29	0.012, 0.046
NTD ~ Age + SexM	-0.028, -0.103	0.097	0.094, 0.252
FTD ~ Age + vBCl	-0.107, +2.332	0.355	0.003, 0.026
FTD ~ Age + SexM + vBCI	-0.101 , -0.294, +1.795	0.397	0.004 , 0.110, 0.087



Figure 17: Comparisons between male (n = 18) and female (n = 10) box turtles (A) and bolder and less bold of either male (B) or female (C) box turtles in their mean daytime temperature differentials (± SE) calculated as the difference between carapace temperature and the temperature of the environmental surface reference sites between 0900 and 1700 hrs. Females had significantly higher daytime temperature differentials than males (t = 2.16, df = 26, p = 0.04), but no differences in temperature differentials were detected between categories within either sex (p > 0.05 in both).






Figure 19: Temperatures of surface and 5 cm air iButtons from environmental stations plotted along with temperatures from iButtons mounted onto turtles during the 19^{th} (A) and 21^{st} (B) of July 2021 (summer study period) from 0600 to ~23:00. These days had largely clear skies and temperature highs were 30 and 32°C, respectively. Consistent with the graphs from May, females (particularly bold ones) readily went above surface temperatures and sometimes above air temperatures. However, males also appeared to do this on some days in July.

DISCUSSION

Sample demographics

In terms of general sample demographics regarding age and sex, the findings of this study are largely consistent with previous work on this population of turtles in 2016 (West & Klukowski, 2016), although in that study nearly 60% of adults fell in the 10-14 age group and ~37% in the 15-19 age class (with only ~3.0% in the 20+ age class). However, that study involved a much higher sample size (n = 138 for turtles within these age classes) and is therefore likely a more realistic representation of the population's overall demographics (West & Klukowski, 2016).

Repeatability of boldness and differences in plasticity

Results of the behavioral assays indicate that bold personality traits are present in this Tennessee population of wild adult *T. carolina*. This is indicated by the low within individual variation in boldness behaviors across the 5 assays, accompanied by relatively high variation in average behaviors across the 28 individuals. The findings agree with those of prior studies on populations of eastern box turtles of Tennessee (this population; Preston *et al.*, 2020) and Indiana, USA (Carlson & Tetzlaff, 2020; Kashon & Carlson, 2018; Pich *et al.*, 2019). Although only adults were tested in this study, Carlson & Tetzlaff (2020) have also shown this individual variation in boldness in 8-month-old juvenile eastern box turtles and demonstrated consistencies in their behavioral types by testing them a year later. Together these studies, along with this one, support boldness as a personality trait in wild eastern box turtles of central and southern USA.

Although the variability in eye emergence latency remained relatively low in the turtles of the bolder category (mean standard deviation: 20.8 sec; range: 0.0 - 60.7 sec), several turtles classified as less bold had relatively high variation in eye emergence (mean standard deviation: 102.1 sec; range: 32.5 - 207.7 sec). Therefore, it is possible that less bold turtles generally exhibit greater plasticity in this behavior than bolder individuals, as has been shown in other animal groups, including several fish (Jolles et al., 2019; Kareklas et al., 2016; Magnhagen & Bunnefeld, 2009) and some mammals (e.g., Dammhahn & Almeling, 2012). This also agrees with studies of "coping-styles", which suggest that more "proactive" individuals, characterized by higher degrees of boldness and aggression, also tend to have lower flexibility in their behavioral responsiveness towards stressors than their "reactive", less bold, and non-aggressive counterparts (Koolhaas, 2008; Koolhaas et al., 2007; Øverli et al., 2007). However, because there were still a few of these 'less bold' individuals that were consistent in their eye emergence latency (i.e., had low variation in eye emergence across assays), it may be more appropriate to view turtles in this study as either (1) consistently bolder, (2) consistently less bold, or (3) flexibly less bold. Similar personality groups have been reported in pea aphids, with some individuals consistently dropping or consistently not dropping in response to predators whereas a third group was flexible with their behavioral responses, exhibiting inconsistent drop times across assays (Schuett et al., 2011, 2015). Indeed, 6 of the 15 'less bold' turtles in this study had one or more of their behavioral assays with emergence times less than the 100 sec boldness cut-off (i.e., would be considered bolder for one or more of their assays), but ultimately had an average emergence that placed them into the less bold category. Likewise, 5 of the 13

bolder turtles had one or more behavioral assays with emergence times slightly above the 100 sec cut-off, although the standard deviations remained low for these individuals and hardly surpassed this cut-off. Nonetheless, by the standards of this categorization method, these 11 turtles were flexible enough to be considered bolder some days and less bold other days, with those placed in the less bold group exhibiting higher degrees of flexibility than those in the bolder group.

The difference in among-assay variance for wrist emergence and 2 body lengths was also higher in the less bold group than the bolder group, although to a lesser extent than eye emergence. This makes sense given that these behaviors were positively correlated with eye emergence both at the level of individual assays and at the level of average behaviors per turtle. However, the latency to move 1 m, which was also positively correlated with eye emergence, had relatively similar among-assay variance in the bolder group. Also, the number of total defenses employed during handling (which is negatively correlated with eye emergence latency) shows considerably higher amongassay variability in the bolder group than the less bold group, as turtles in the less bold group almost always exhibited zero defenses across all assays. Therefore, the differences in variance between bolder and less bold turtles does depend on the behavioral measure considered.

Effects of assay conditions on behavior

The GLMMs indicated both sky code and immediate shell temperature (from IR readings) to negatively predict eye emergence latency (Table 4). This suggests that with an increasing overcast or higher immediate shell temperatures during the day, turtles may

be inclined to emerge more quickly from the shell. Eastern box turtles rely largely on type III (true) orientation, using solar cues to actively choose a homeward direction and show reduced homing ability in overcast situations (DeRosa & Taylor, 1980; also reviewed in Dodd, 2001). It is possible that box turtles of this study increased their reliance for active exploratory behavior on heavily overcast days due to the effects of overcast on navigation. Studies have suggested boldness to be closely tied to exploratory behavior (e.g., Michelangeli *et al.*, 2019; Patrick *et al.*, 2017) and perhaps the more rapid emergence by box turtles during highly overcast days could reflect this. The reduced emergence latency effect of immediate shell temperature suggests that turtles may also adjust their boldness behaviors depending on their current body temperature. Together, the effects of cloud cover and immediate body temperature on emergence latency suggest at least some plasticity in boldness in response to environmental conditions.

Additionally, test number was a significant and negative predictor of eye emergence, in which turtles were predicted to have quicker emergence as their number of previous assays increased, suggesting turtles were habituating to the repeated behavioral assays involving handling by the investigator. Kashon & Carlson (2018) also found their box turtles to have similar habituation to their repeated handling assays which were similar to those conducted in this study. Because less bold turtles were noted to have more flexibility in their eye emergence latencies across behavioral assays, any habituation and reduction in eye emergence with increasing test number likely occurred primarily in these turtles as opposed to those in the bolder category. Additionally, bolder individuals repeatedly had emergence times already at or near the minimum of 1 sec and therefore could not reduce their emergence time any further.

Morphology and pinch force

Females were generally larger in weight but had similar carapace lengths as males. Because this study took place during active mating and nesting this size difference could be due to active vitellogenesis and egg production by females. A few females may have been gravid and nearing oviposition based on their relatively large movements into horse pastures and form constructions in tall grasses, however gravidity and nesting was never confirmed.

Average eye emergence had a negative, but non-significant trend with vBCI (p = 0.076). Therefore, bolder turtles may gain opportunities that allow for maintenance of better body condition. Alternatively, turtles may tend to behave more boldly when they exhibit higher body condition (e.g., more fat stores). Further investigation is needed given that this trend was non-significant and because the boldness categories did not significantly differ in vBCI.

Pinch force was nearly significantly higher in females compared to males (p = 0.063), perhaps reflecting the larger size (weight) of females. Additionally, individuals that were unable to completely close the shell (some bolder, some less bold) and individuals that were consistently unwilling to close (all bolder), when pooled together, exhibited significantly reduced pinch force values than turtles without those distinctions. Therefore, there may be similar consequences of (1) an anatomical misfit between elements or a lack of muscular strength associated with the hinge, and (2) active bold behavior during a potentially threatening interaction. Also, pinch force and reluctance/inability to close the shell may be behaviors that are linked to boldness (e.g.,

cross-traits). Roughly half of the turtles classified as bolder (~54%) either appeared incapable of closing fully or were reluctant to close, whereas this was true of only ~13% of turtles classified as less bold. Furthermore, average eye emergence was positively correlated with pinch force, suggesting turtles that took longer to emerge (less bold) also elicited higher pinch force values.

Physiological measures and parasites

Male and female turtles exhibited similar hemolysis scores, as did bolder and less bold turtles of combined sexes, suggesting there is no strong consequence of innate immunity relating to boldness in *T. carolina*. In general, the hemolysis immunoassay proved to be an effective method for testing the innate immune response to foreign RBCs by *T. carolina* plasma and may therefore be a useful health assessment in future work on box turtles, such as population studies and conservation efforts (also see West & Klukowski, 2018).

Fecal nematode counts were also similar between the sexes and boldness categories, suggesting that gastrointestinal nematode load is not a likely consequence of either sex or boldness in this species. However, this study did not investigate individual nematode species and also suffers from a small sample size of turtles for which feces was analyzed (n = 14). It has been noted in other studies that eastern box turtles typically exhibit a low prevalence of helminth endoparasites and tend to generally lack ectoparasites (Moraga *et al.*, 2012; Rose *et al.*, 2011). The findings of this study are largely consistent with these previous studies given that gastrointestinal nematodes counts were relatively low and only one ectoparasite (a leech) was observed on a single

turtle. Wild *T. carolina* may be particularly resistant to parasites, or our sample may have been biased towards low parasitized individuals. Regardless, other endoparasites, such as gastrointestinal trematodes and coccidia, as well as hemoparasites, should also be considered (e.g., see Doke *et al.*, 2022; Moraga *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, the most common fecal nematode noted in this study were microcapillarids which are cited in only a single source (Klingenberg, 2016) and may be of no significance to box turtles. Future studies might further investigate these so called microcapillarids to determine if they are parasitic nematodes, and if so, how pathogenic they are towards their turtle hosts. Lastly, it remains unclear if leeches frequently parasitize box turtles of wetland populations or cause any harmful effects.

Females had significantly higher plasma triglycerides than males which is consistent with prior work in this population (West & Klukowski, 2018). Plasma triglycerides may increase in females as they allocate more lipids for vitellogenesis or nesting migration, the latter of which may involve traveling far distances from a female's typical home range (West & Klukowski, 2018; Stickel, 1950). Given that active mating and nesting was likely occurring in this population during the time of this study, the high levels of plasma triglycerides in females might therefore relate to their allocation of lipids for reproductive purposes (although peak mating for this population likely occurs during early fall) (West & Klukowski, 2018).

Baseline plasma CORT was similar between the sexes and boldness categories and showed no significant correlations with any other physiological or morphological measure, including parasites and hemolysis scores. The latter was unexpected given that prior work in this population had identified a positive relationship between plasma CORT and hemolysis (West & Klukowski, 2018). Similarly, testosterone and progesterone were not different between boldness categories and showed no significant correlations with other physiological and morphological measures, suggesting that these hormones do not serve significant roles in facilitating the trade-offs of boldness (although see discussion on the limitations of this study). However, testosterone tended to be significantly higher in males measured later in the season, which could be associated with a shift towards more active spermatogenesis in males as they approach the peak mating of autumn (West & Klukowski, 2018).

Unsurprisingly, plasma CORT did increase significantly after confining individuals in buckets within a novel lab environment for ~22 h when compared to their baseline bleeds which occurred after the final 10-min field behavioral assay. Additionally, the change of plasma CORT (post-confinement minus baseline) between bolder and less bold turtles was similar but should be further investigated given the small sample size of turtles bled a second time in this study (bolder n = 4; less bold n = 5). If turtles with varying degrees of boldness do indeed exhibit similar CORT responses, *T. carolina* may differ from the typical hypothesized pattern of "proactive" (bold, explorative, aggressive) animals which are said to have lower CORT responses to stressors than "reactive" (timid, shy, submissive) animals (Koolhaas *et al.*, 1999; Hau & Goymann, 2015). In fact, the change in plasma CORT tended to be higher (albeit nonsignificant) in the bolder group which suggests that bolder box turtles may actually have greater stress responses to confinement than less bold turtles. It is unknown whether turtles differed in their levels of activity during their 22 h of confinement, but because turtles were free to move within their confinement buckets (and many did so), it is possible that their CORT response was influenced by locomotor activity during the time of confinement (Hare *et al.*, 2014) which could have been boldness dependent.

Temperature and its interactions with age, sex, body condition, and injury scores

The temperature data from iButton loggers revealed that female and younger box turtles experienced significantly higher temperature differentials for full study and daytime periods than males and generally older turtles, but this was not true of the nighttime differentials. Female turtles may therefore be selecting warmer microhabitats during the day at this time of year. Indeed, several females were repeatedly captured outside of the forested areas of the field site in horse pastures containing only limited shading by tall grasses. I suspected that some of these females may have been gravid with eggs and preparing for nesting and oviposition. Because T. carolina is one of many turtle species with temperature sex determination, the temperature of the nesting site chosen by ovipositing females will likely have drastic effects on offspring development and sex ratio outcomes, making nest site selection by females important to hatchling success and offspring phenotypes (e.g., Delaney & Janzen, 2019; Refsnider et al., 2022). Nest site selection could also be repeatable and related to personality traits, such as boldness and exploration (e.g, Patrício et al., 2018; Seltmann et al., 2014). It could be worth investigating if there are potential interactions between boldness and temperature in nesting versus non-nesting female box turtles.

In late spring (late May), males tended to more closely track the environmental surface temperatures whereas females often exceeded surface temperatures and more

71

closely tracked air temperatures. Additionally, several graphs indicated that bolder females tended to have sharper inclines and declines in temperature than less bold females, possibly indicating differences in thermoregulation. These patterns appeared largely true for the later summer period (late July) of the study, although on some days males were also observed to increase their temperatures above the air temperature similar to females.

Linear regression analysis suggested that turtles with higher full study and daytime temperatures (and possibly higher body conditions) were also predicted to have higher injury scores. Turtles maintaining warmer temperatures may be more likely to encounter situations that lead to injury (such as predation attempts by predators). This would support the claims of Kashon and Carlson (2018), which suggested a trade-off between thermoregulation and injury score in *T. carolina* that was possibly linked to boldness. Alternatively, turtles which have sustained higher injuries may thermoregulate to higher temperatures.

On the contrary, linear regression analyses showed that a turtle's average eye emergence was not a significant predictor of any of its temperature differential measures or injury scores. Likewise, FTD, DTD, NTD, and injury scores did not differ between the two boldness categories. Therefore, bolder and less bold turtles of this study appear to be choosing similar thermal habitats at our field site and any possible trade-off between thermoregulation and injury score may be decoupled from boldness. Nonetheless, because the GLMMs indicated that immediate shell infrared temperature was a significant predictor for the turtle's eye emergence, it is possible that temperature may still have at least some influence on an individual's short-term processing and/or decision-making for risk-taking behaviors in response to a potential threat. This result is largely consistent with the conclusions drawn from Pich *et al.* (2019) which suggested that "the effects of temperature [on boldness behaviors] are present but not strong". Perhaps the relationship between temperature and injury scores is better explained by other behaviors not considered in this study (e.g., exploration) that might also relate to boldness to some extent, as such a phenomenon could explain the sometimes present but weak association between temperature and boldness in studies of box turtles.

Given that immediate shell temperatures and overcast skies influence eye emergence and therefore boldness, both age and sex (and relatedly, body condition) should also be further investigated in their interactions with personality, as both variables were determined to interact significantly with a turtle's daytime temperature. Indeed, turtles that were younger, female, or had higher body condition exhibited significantly higher daytime temperatures than their respective counterparts in this study. Could it be that turtles of these distinctions are choosing different microhabitats and/or actively thermoregulating differently? If so, this could have short-term implications for their boldness behavior and therefore interactions with conspecifics or predators. This seems plausible given that daytime temperature was also positively associated with shell injury scores and that both injury scores and daytime temperature exhibited positive trends with body condition.

Limitations of present study and future considerations

The pace-of-life hypothesis is a common theory for the existence and evolutionary persistence of animal personality traits. Further investigations into the survival and reproductive consequences of boldness in eastern box turtles is needed. perhaps using more direct assessments of these life history traits than the measures used in this study. For example, it would be interesting to test if bolder and/or aggressive males or females have different copulatory (or overall reproductive) success than their timid counterparts. Such a finding was demonstrated in male zebrafish in which bolder males fertilized more eggs than shy males (Ariyomo & Watts, 2012). Additionally, turtles could be choosy with mates either directly prior to copulation or, in the case of female choice, via sperm storage post-copulation (reviewed in Pearse & Avise, 2001). Box turtles could therefore rely on personality traits to make decisions based on mate quality or compatibility, as has been demonstrated in several species of birds with assortative mating (e.g., Both et al., 2005; Collins et al., 2019; Pogány et al., 2018). In general, the survival and reproductive consequences of boldness in box turtles needs further and more direct consideration.

It should be noted that the categorization of individuals into bold and less bold turtles using a simple method based solely on average eye emergence is likely an oversimplification of boldness in box turtles. However, the simple method did agree with the more complex, compiled behavior method of categorization (using various behaviors during and immediately following handling) for all but one individual. Nonetheless, both methods may suffer from oversimplification given that (1) all the behaviors used in the compiled method were highly correlated and therefore may not encompass many aspects of true bold (or less bold) behavior, (2) one could easily interpret the majority of these behaviors as exploratory or activity driven behaviors rather than bold responses (although these are often not mutually exclusive and are assumed to be related here), and (3) boldness is more appropriately viewed as a continuous trait (i.e., a "shy-bold continuum"; e.g., Bubac *et al.*, 2018; Oswald *et al.*, 2012; Wilson *et al.*, 1993) rather than the division of two discrete groups such as 'bolder' and 'less bold'. To the latter point, this study does attempt to test boldness as a more continuous trait when using individual and average eye emergence values in correlation and regression analyses, for which an absence of significant interactions between physiological measures and boldness remains, although some testing conditions were found to affect boldness within these tests.

Another limitation in this study is that behaviors were tested under similar contexts and therefore do not adequately test for contextual consistency. It is possible that the individual state-variables here have a more non-linear association with boldness, whereas this study primarily considered linear associations exclusively and within a single major context (summer season, presence of- and handling by- a human investigator). There could be more complex interactive effects of boldness in eastern box turtles, in which certain contexts (such as different seasons) may present different consequences for boldness. For example, Broecke *et al.* (2021) found the effects of stress-sensitivity personality in wild mice (*Mastomys natalensis*) to be present only during the "population decrease phase" of their study, in which food resources became scant and competition was high. Although Tetzlaff & Carlson (2020) have already demonstrated that differences in enrichment early in development appears to have no

effect on the repeatability of boldness in lab-reared juvenile eastern box turtles, different seasons could still create differential pressures on bold and less bold turtles in Middle Tennessee which are unrelated to food availability (e.g., temperature, shelter availability).

It is also possible that the methodology of this study fails to consider the primary mechanisms by which these intrinsic states influence behavior. For example, regarding hormones, only differences in the concentration of certain hormones among individuals were considered and not differences in receptor density, carrier molecules, or expression across tissues which could be just as, if not more, important in governing the hormonal effects of behavioral phenotypes in this species (e.g., Oswald *et al.*, 2012; Niemelä & Dingemanse, 2018). Additionally, several of the physiological traits were measured at only a single point, such as at the end of the study, and therefore do not account for repeatability in these physiological traits of individual state or the possibility of the short-and long-term differences in their responsiveness between individuals and this deserves further attention. For example, it is possible that bolder and less bold turtles differ in their stress responsiveness (non-significant in this study but small sample size).

Furthermore, there may be other physiological and/or ecological variables not considered in this study that do interact more directly with boldness and present potential explanations for its trade-offs (or fitness implications) in *T. carolina*, such as other aspects of immunity like inflammatory responses or specific immune responses. Boldness could also be linked to other behaviors within a behavioral syndrome and these other behaviors may have more explicit or direct trade-offs with intrinsic and extrinsic state variables such as those measured in this study. For example, aggressive behavior was noted in one of the male turtles of this study which attacked a submissive male subject for nearly an hour (see Appendix) (although the seemingly aggressive behaviors may be confused with courtship behaviors; see Stickel, 1989). Perhaps aggressive behaviors, which are also often considered 'risk-taking', are more directly dependent on individual state than the measures of boldness considered in this study, although the behaviors might be correlated.

Conclusion

To my knowledge, this is the first study to investigate intrinsic physiological correlates of boldness (besides sex and age) in eastern box turtles. There were no differences in hemolysis, fecal nematodes, triglycerides, or body condition between bolder and less bold turtles, nor did any of these variables significantly correlate with average eye emergence. This suggest that neither impairments in innate immunity, increased loads of endoparasites, availability of fat stores, nor body condition status are likely to be strong consequences of boldness in eastern box turtles of Middle Tennessee. Therefore, as it currently stands, this study suggests boldness to be largely independent of sex, age, short-term aspects of circulating triglycerides, endocrine profiles, innate immunity, nematode loads, and general morphology, although bolder turtles may have higher body condition (non-significant trend observed in this small study) and less bold turtles may have higher pinch force values. This appears true at least in the context of adult T. carolina during these active months of the summer season, as was the focus of this study. It is possible that these variables might interact with boldness during other (e.g., cooler) months of the year, or in juvenile turtles. More long-term studies which

include a greater number of ecologically relevant contexts (e.g., the other seasons) and developmental periods for eastern box turtles may help to test this possibility. On the other hand, daytime temperature differed between age and sex groups, and showed positive trends with body condition and injury scores, calling attention to the possibility of thermoregulation by some turtles and potential trade-offs of thermoregulators vs thermoconformers. Specifically, this study suggests that turtles maintaining warmer daytime temperatures may be more likely to have higher body condition but also exhibit higher degrees of shell damage. One would expect that either boldness or its association with other behaviors (e.g., exploration, aggression, etc.) could interact with thermoregulation in at least some contexts (e.g., nesting or preparation for overwintering), and therefore facilitate these trade-offs.

In conclusion, this study further shows that eastern box turtles display consistent bold personalities across individuals and suggests that less bold individuals tend to display higher levels of plasticity in their bold responses than bolder turtles. Moreover, box turtles appear to have the ability to habituate to repeated handlings which may influence the outcome of their boldness responses. Intuitively, turtles that are consistently proactive in their use of active defenses during a potentially threatening encounter may be more vulnerable to predators as they appear less likely to tightly close the shell, however, turtles with the inability to fully close the shell (regardless of boldness) may also suffer similar consequences. Interestingly, boldness appears to be largely independent of short-term physiological state, although there was a negative trend between average eye emergence and body condition, suggesting turtles that emerge quicker (bolder) may have higher body conditions. On the other hand, boldness appeared to be dependent on some short-term environmental conditions, such as cloud coverage and immediate body temperature, but not dependent on overall daily temperatures. Finally, daytime temperatures differed between sex and age groups and exhibited positive trends with shell injury scores and body condition, suggesting that turtles may differ in their thermoregulation and that there may be differential consequences for thermoregulators and thermoconformers. Further studies are needed to better understand the implications of these interactions and their possible correlation with other personality traits.

REFERENCES

- Allard, S., Fuller, G., Torgerson-White, L., Starking, M.D., Yoder-Nowak, T. 2019. Personality in zoo-hatched Blanding's turtles affects behavior and survival after reintroduction into the wild. *Frontiers in Psychology* 10: 2324.
- Amy, M., Sprau, P., Goede, P., Naguib, M. 2010. Effects of personality on territory defence in communication networks: a playback experiment with radio-tagged great tits. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 277(1700): 3685-3692.
- Ariyomo, T.O., Carter, M., Watt, P.J. 2013. Heritability of boldness and aggressiveness in the zebrafish. *Behavior Genetics* 43: 161-167.
- Ariyomo, T.O., Watt, P.J. 2012. The effect of variation in boldness and aggressiveness on the reproductive success of zebrafish. *Animal Behaviour* 83(1): 41-46.
- Baker, S., Kessler, E., Darville-Bowleg, L., Merchant, M. 2019. Different mechanisms of serum complement activation in the plasma of common (*Chelydra serpentina*) and alligator (*Macrochelys temminckii*) snapping turtles. *PLoS ONE* 14(6): e0217626.
- Atwell, J.W., Cardoso, G.C., Whittaker, D.J., Campbell-Nelson, S., Robertson, K.W., Ketterson, E.D. 2012. Boldness behavior and stress physiology in a novel urban environment suggest rapid correlated evolutionary adaptation. *Behavioral Ecology* 23(5): 960-969.
- Barber, I, Dingemanse, N.J. 2010 Parasitism and the evolutionary ecology of animal personality. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 365(1560): 4077-4088.
- Bell, A. 2007. Future directions in behavioural syndromes research. *Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences* 274(1611): 755-761.
- Belliure, J., Smith, L. Sorci, G. 2004. Effect of testosterone on T cell-mediated immunity in two species of Mediterranean lacertid lizards. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 301(5): 411-418.
- Bergmüller, R., Taborsky, M. 2010. Animal personality due to social niche 80haracterizing. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25(9): 509-511.
- Binning, S.A., Shaw, A.K., Roche, D.G. 2017. Parasites and host performance: Incorporating infection into our understanding of animal movement. *Integrative* and Comparative Biology 57(2): 267-280.

- Blanvillain, G., Owens, D.W., & Kuchling, G. (2011). Hormones and reproductive cycles in turtles. In Norris & Lopez (Eds.), *Hormones and Reproduction of Vertebrates*, *Volume 3 – Reptiles*. Academic Press 277-303.
- Both, C., Dingemanse, N.J., Drent, P.J., Tinbergen, J.M. 2005. Pairs of extreme avian personalities have highest reproductive success. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 74(4): 667-674.
- Bowden, R.M., Harms, H.K., Paitz, R.T., Janzen, F.J. 2004. Does optimal egg size vary with demographic stage because of a physiological constraint? *Functional Ecology* 18(4): 522-529.
- Brand, J.A., Naimo, A.C., Michelangeli, M., Martin, J.M., Sih, A., Wong, B.B.M., Chapple, D.G. 2021. Population differences in the effect of context on personality in an invasive lizard. *Behavioral Ecology* 32 (6): 1363-1371.
- Broecke, B.V., Sluydts, V., Mariën, J., Sabuni, C.A., Massawe, A.W., Matthysen, E., Leirs, H. 2021. The effects of personality on survival and trappability in a wild mouse during a population cycle. *Oecologia* 195(4): 901-913.
- Bubac, C.M., Coltman, D.W., Bowen, W.D., Lidgard, D.C., Lang, S.L.C., den Heyer, C.E. 2018. Repeatability and reproductive consequences of boldness in female gray seals. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 72(6): 1-12.
- Bull, C.M., Gardner, M.G., Sih, A., Spiegel, O., Godfrey, S., Leu, S. 2017. Why is social behavior rare in reptiles? Lessons from sleepy lizards. *Advances in the Study of Behavior* 49: 1-26.
- Careau, V., Thomas, D., Humphries, M.M., Réale, D. 2008. Energy metabolism and animal personality. *Oikos* 177(5): 641-653.
- Carlson, B.E., Tetzlaff, S.J. 2020. Long-term behavioral repeatability in wild adult and captive juvenile turtles (*Terrapene carolina*): Implications for personality development. *Ethology* 126(6): 668-678.
- Carter, A.J., Feeney, W.E. 2012. Taking a comparative approach: analysing personality as a multivariate behavioural response across species. *PloS ONE* 7(7): e42440.
- Carter, A.J., Goldizen, A.W., Heinsohn, R. 2012. Personality and plasticity: Temporal behavioural reaction norms in a lizard, the Namibian rock agama. *Animal Behaviour* 84(2): 471-477.
- Carter, A.J., Goldizen, A.W, Tromp, S.A. 2010. Agamas exhibit behavioral syndromes: bolder males bask and feed more but may suffer higher predation. *Behavioral Ecology* 21(3): 655-661.

- Carter, A.W., Paitz, R.T., McGhee, K.E., Bowden, R.M. 2016. Turtle hatchlings show behavioral types that are robust to developmental manipulations. *Physiology and Behavior* 155(1): 46-55.
- Cassola, F.M., Henaut, Y., Cedeño-Vázquez, J.R., Méndez-de la Cruz, F.R., Morales-Vela, B. 2020. Temperament and sexual behaviour in the furrowed wood turtle *Rhinoclemmys areolate*. *PloS One* 15(12): e0244561.
- Chen, B-j., Liu, K., Zhou, L-j., Gomes-Silva, G., Sommer-Trembo, C., Plath, M. 2018. Personality differentially affects individual mate choice decisions in female and male Western mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*). PloS ONE 13(5): e0197197.
- Clary, D., Skyner, L.J., Ryan, C.P., Gardiner, L.E., Anderson, W.G., Hare, J.F. 2014. Shyness–Boldness, but not exploration, predicts glucocorticoid stress response in Richardson's Ground Squirrels (*Urocitellus richardsonii*). *Ethology* 120(11): 1101-1109.
- Collins, S.M., Hatch, S.A., Elliott, K.H., Jacobs, S.R. 2019. Boldness, mate choice and reproductive success in *Rissa tridactyla*. *Animal Behaviour* 154: 67-74.
- Cordero, G.A., Quinteros, K., Janzen, F.J. 2018. Delayed trait development and the convergent evolution of shell kinesis in turtles. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 285(1888): 20181585.
- Cote, J., Clobert, J. 2007. Social personalities influence natal dispersal in a lizard. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 274(1608): 383-390.
- Cox, R.M., John-Alder, H. 2007. Increased mite parasitism as a cost of testosterone in male striped plateau lizards *Sceloporus virgatus*. Functional Ecology 21(2): 327-334.
- Cringoli, G., Maurelli, M.P., Levecke, B., Bosco, A., Vercruysse, J., Utzinger, J., Rinaldi, L. 2017. The Mini-FLOTAC technique for the diagnosis of helminth and protozoan infections in humans and animals. *Nature Protocols* 12(9): 1723-1732.
- Custodia-Lora, N., Callard, I.P. 2002. Progesterone and progesterone receptors in reptiles. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 127(1): 1-7.
- Custodia-Lora, N., Novillo, A., Callard, I.P. 2004a. Regulation of hepatic progesterone and estrogen receptors in the female turtle, *Chrysemys picta*: relationship to vitellogenesis. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 136(2): 232-40.
- Custodia-Lora, N., Novillo, A., Callard, I.P. 2004b. Effect of gonadal steroids on progesterone receptor, estrogen receptor, and vitellogenin expression in male turtles (*Chrysemys picta*). Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Comparative Experimental Biology 301(1): 15-25.

- Dahirel, M., Gaudu, V., Ansart, A. 2021. Boldness and exploration vary between shell morphs but not environmental contexts in the snail *Cepaea nemoralis*. *Ethology* 127(4): 321-333.
- Dall, S.R.X., Houston, A.I., McNamara, J.M. 2004. The behavioural ecology of personality: consistent individual differences from an adaptive perspective. *Ecology Letters* 7(8): 734-739.
- Dall, S.R.X., Bell, A.M., Bolnick, D.I., Ratnieks, F.L.W. 2012. An evolutionary ecology of individual differences. *Ecology Letters* 15(10): 1189-1198.
- Dammhahna, M., Almeling, L. 2012. Is risk taking during foraging a personality trait? A field test for cross-context consistency in boldness. *Animal Behaviour* 84(5): 1131-1139.
- Davis, M. 1981. Aspects of the social and spatial experience of eastern box turtles, *Terrapene carolina carolina*. Doctoral Dissertation. University of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Delaney, D.M., Janzen, F.J. 2019. Offspring dispersal ability covaries with nest-site choice. *Behavioral Ecology* 30(1): 125-133.
- Dingemanse, N.J., Bothab, C., Drent, P.J., van Oersa, K., van Noordwijka, A.J. 2002. Repeatability and heritability of exploratory behaviour in great tits from the wild. *Animal Behaviour* 64(6): 929-938.
- Dingemanse, N.J., Wolf, M. 2013. Between-individual differences in behavioural plasticity within populations: causes and consequences. *Animal Behaviour* 85(5): 1031-1039.
- Dingemanse, N.J., Wright, J. 2020. Criteria for acceptable studies of animal personality and behavioural syndromes. *Ethology* 126(9): 865-869.
- Dodd Jr., C.K., 2001. North American Box Turtles: A Natural History. The University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.
- Doke, R., Hiebert, K., Repella, M., Stuart, M., Mumm, L., Winter, J., Adamovicz, L., Glowacki, G., Kessler, E., Allender, M.C. 2022. Prevalence of intraerythrocytic parasites in *Macrochelys temminckii*, *Emydoidea blandingii*, *Terrapene carolina*, and *Terrapene ornata*. *Journal of Herpetological Medicine and Surgery* 32(1): 56-62.
- Duffy, D.L., Bentley, G.E., Drazen, D.L., Ball, G.F. 2000. Effects of testosterone on cellmediated and humoral immunity in non-breeding adult European starlings. *Behavioral Ecology* 11(6): 654-662

- Duggan, A, Paolucci, M., Tercyak, A., Gigliotti, M., Small, D., Callard, I. 2001. Seasonal variation in plasma lipids, lipoproteins, apolipoprotein A-I and vitellogenin in the freshwater turtle, *Chrysemys picta*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A* 130: 253-269.
- Elnitsky, M.A., Claussen, D.L. 2006. The effects of temperature and inter-individual variation on the locomotor performance of juvenile turtles. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 176(6): 497-504.
- Ewert, M.A., Nelson, C.E. 1991. Sex determination in turtles: Diverse patterns and some possible adaptive values. *Copeia* 1991(1): 50-69.
- Ferronato, B.O., Merchant, M.E., Marques, T.T., Verdade, L.M. 2009. Characterization of innate immune activity in *Phrynops geoffroanus* (Testudines: Chelidae). *Zoologia* 26(4): 747-752.
- Fu, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Z., Shen, F., Xu1, X., Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X. Boldness predicts aggressiveness, metabolism, and activity in black rockfish *Sebastes schlegelii*. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8: doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.770180.
- Fraser, D.F., Gilliam, J.F., Daley, M.J., Le, A.N., Skalski, G.T. 2001. Explaining leptokurtic movement distributions: Intrapopulation variation in boldness and exploration. *The American Naturalist* 158(2): 124-135.
- Frost, A.J., Winrow-Giffen, A., Ashley, P.J., Sneddon, L.U. 2007. Plasticity in animal personality traits: does prior experience alter the degree of boldness? *Proceedings: Biological Sciences* 274(1608): 333-339.
- Gartland, L.A., Firth, J.A., Laskowski, K.L., Jeanson, R., Ioannou, C.C. 2022. Sociability as a personality trait in animals: methods, causes and consequences. *Biological Reviews* 97: 802-816.
- Gosling, S.D. 2001. From mice to men: What can we learn about personality from animal research? *Psychological Bulletin* 127(1): 45-86.
- Goulet, C.T., Thompson, M.B., Chapple, D.G. 2017a. Repeatability and correlation of physiological traits: Do ectotherms have a "thermal type"? *Ecology and Evolution* 7(2): 710-719.
- Goulet, C.T., Thompson, M.B., Michelangeli, M., Wong, B.B.M., Chapple, D.G. 2017b. Thermal physiology: A new dimension of the pace-of-life syndrome. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 86(5): 1269-1280.
- Hall, M.L., van Asten, T., Katsis, A.C., Dingemanse, N.J, Magrath, M.J.L., Mulder, R.A. 2017a. Animal personality and pace-of-life syndromes: do fast-exploring fairywrens die young? *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 3(28): doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00028.

- Hall, M.L., Parson, T., Riebel, K., Mulder, R.A. 2017b. Personality, plasticity, and resource defense. *Behavioral Ecology* 28(1): 138-144.
- Hamann, M., Limpus, C.J., Whittier, J.M. 2002. Patterns of lipid storage and 85haracterizi in the female green sea turtle (*Chelonia mydas*). Journal of Comparative Physiology B 172(6): 485-493.
- Hare, B.D., Beierle, J.A., Toufexis, D.J., Hammack, S.E., Falls, W.A. 2014. Exerciseassociated changes in the corticosterone response to acute restraint stress: evidence for increased adrenal sensitivity and reduced corticosterone response duration. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39(5): 1262-1269.
- Hau, M., Goymann, W. 2015. Endocrine mechanisms, behavioral phenotypes and plasticity: known relationships and open questions. *Frontiers in Zoology* 12(S7): doi: 10.1186/1742-9994-12-S1-S7.
- Hews, D.K., Hara, E., Anderson, M.C. 2012. Sex and species differences in plasma testosterone and in counts of androgen receptor-positive cells in key brain regions of *Sceloporus* lizard species that differ in aggression. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 176(3): 493-499.
- Hews, D.K., Moore, M.C. 1995. Influence of androgens on differentiation of secondary sex characters in tree lizards, *Urosaurus ornatus*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 97(1): 86-102.
- Hillsman, K.D., Sanderson, N.S., Crews, D. 2007. Testosterone stimulates mounting behavior and arginine vasotocin expression in the brain of both sexual and unisexual whiptail lizards. *Sexual Development* 1(1): 77-84.
- Ibáñez, A., López, P., Martín, J. 2014. Inter-individual variation in antipredator hiding behavior of Spanish Terrapins depends on sex, size, and coloration. *Ethology* 120(8): 742-752.
- Ibáñez, A., Martín, J., Gazzola, A., Pellitteri-Rosa, D. 2018. Freshwater turtles reveal personality traits in their antipredatory behaviour. *Behavioural Processes* 157: 142-147.
- Jolles, J.W., Briggs, H.D., Araya-Ajoy, Y.G., Boogert, N.J. 2019. Personality, plasticity and predictability in sticklebacks: bold fish are less plastic and more predictable than shy fish. *Animal Behaviour* 154: 193-202.
- Kaiser, M.I., Müller, C. 2021. What is an animal personality? *Biology & Philosophy* 36: 1-25.
- Kareklas, K., Arnott, G., Elwood, R.W., Holland, R.A. 2016. Plasticity varies with boldness in a weakly-electric fish. *Frontiers in Zoology* 13(22): doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12983-016-0154-0.

- Kashon, E., Carlson, B.E. 2018. Consistently bolder turtles maintain higher body temperatures in the field but may experience greater predation risk. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 72(9): doi: 10.1007/s00265-017-2428-8
- Kawazu, I., Suzuki, M., Maeda, K., Kino, M., Koyago, M., Moriyoshi, M., Nakada, K., Sawamukai, Y. 2014. Ovulation induction with follicle-stimulating hormone administration in Hawksbill turtles *Eretmochelys imbricata*. *Current Herpetology* 33(1): 88-93.
- Kendall, B.E., Fox, G.A., Stover, J.P. 2018. Boldness-aggression syndromes can reduce population density: behavior and demographic heterogeneity. *Behavioral Ecology* 29(1): 31-41.
- Klingenberg, R.J. 2016. Understanding Reptile Parasites, 2nd ed. Advanced Vivarium Systems, Irvine, CA.
- Koolhaas, J.M. 2008. Coping style and immunity in animals: making sense of individual variation. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 22(5): 662-667.
- Koolhaas, J.M., Korte, S.M., De Boer, S.F., Van Der Vegt, B.J., Van Reenen, C.G., Hopster, H., De Jong, I.C., Ruis, M.A., Blokhuis, H.J. 1999. Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 23(7): 925-935.
- Koolhaas, J.M., Boer, S.F., Buwalda, B., Reenen, K. 2007. Individual variation in coping with stress: A multidimensional approach of ultimate and proximate mechanisms. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution* 70: 218-226.
- Kralj-Fišer, S., Schuett, W. 2014. Studying personality variation in invertebrates: Why bother? *Animal Behaviour* 91: 41-52.
- Kwek, B.Z.W., Tan, M., Yu, L., Zhou, W., Chang, C., Li, D. 2021. Aggressive males are more attractive to females and more likely to win contests in jumping spiders. *Animal Behaviour* 179: 51-63.
- Levene, H. 1960. Robust Tests for Equality of Variances. In: Olkin, I., Ed., Contributions to Probability and Statistics, Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, 278-292.
- Li., C., Zhang, X., Cui, P., Zhang, F., Zhang, B. 2022. Male mate choice in mosquitofish: personality outweighs body size. *Frontiers in Zoology* 19(1): doi: 10.1186/s12983-022-00450-3.
- Lou, Y-q., Chen, L-j., Hu, Y-b., Komdeur, J., Sun, Y-h., Lyu, N. 2021. Animal personality can modulate sexual conflict over offspring provisioning. *Animal Behaviour* 177: 91-97.

- Magnhagen, C., Bunnefeld, N. 2009. Express your personality or go along with the group: what determines the behaviour of shoaling perch? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Biological Sciences* 276(1671): 3369-3375.
- Marangi, M., Carlino, P., Profico, C. Olivieri, V., Totaro, G., Furii, G., Marzano, G., Papini, R.A. 2020. First multicenter coprological survey on helminth parasite communities of free-living loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* (Linnaeus, 1758) from the Adriatic Sea and Northern Ionian Sea. *International Journal of Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife* 11: 207-212.
- Mathot, K.J., Dingemanse, N.J., Nakagawa, S. 2018. The covariance between metabolic rate and behaviour varies across behaviours and thermal types: meta-analytic insights. *Biological Reviews* 94(3): 1056-1074.
- Matson, K.D., Ricklefs, R.E., Klasing, K.C. 2005. A hemolysis-hemagglutination assay for characterizing constitutive innate humoral immunity in wild and domestic birds. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 29(3): 275-286.
- Mazué, G.P.F., Dechaume-Moncharmont, F-X., Godin, J-G. J. 2015. Boldness– exploration behavioral syndrome: interfamily variability and repeatability of personality traits in the young of the convict cichlid (*Amatitlania siquia*). *Behavioral Ecology* 26(3): 900-908.
- Merchant, M., Hammack, T., Sanders, P., Dronette, J. 2006. Rapid and inexpensive method for the spectroscopic determination of innate immune activity if crocodilians. *Spectroscopy Letters* 39: 337-343.
- Merchant, M., Henry, D., Falconi, R., Muscher, B., Bryja, J. 2012. Characterization of serum complement activity in serum of the Komodo dragon (*Varanus komodoensis*). Advances in Biological Chemistry 2(4): 353-359.
- Michelangeli, M., Chapple, D.G., Goulet, C.T., Bertram, M.G., Wong, B.B.M. 2019. Behavioral syndromes vary among geographically distinct populations in a reptile. *Behavioral Ecology* 30(2): 393-401.
- Michelangeli, M., Goulet, C.T., Kang, H.S., Wong, B.B.M., Chapple, D.G. 2017. Integrating thermal physiology within a syndrome: Locomotion, personality and habitat selection in an ectotherm. *Functional Ecology* 32(4): 970-981.
- Modlmeier, A.P., Keiser, C.N., Wright, C.M., Lichtenstein, K.L.L., Pruitt, J.N. Integrating animal personality into insect population and community ecology. *Current Opinion in Insect Science* 9: 77-85.
- Monagas, W.R., Gatten Jr., R.E. 1983. Behavioural fever in the turtles *Terrapene* carolina and Chrysemys picta. Journal of Thermal Biology 8(3): 285-288.

- Moore, S.J.B., Nicholson, K.E. 2021. Beneath the leaf-litter: can salamander personality influence forest-floor dynamics? *Herpetologica* 77(3): 209-218.
- Moraga, P., Kinsella, J.M., Sepúlveda, M.S. 2012. Helminth parasites of eastern box turtles (*Terrapene carolina carolina*) from southern Indiana, USA. *Journal of Helminthology* 86(1): 38-40.
- Munson, A.A., Jones, C., Schraft, H., Sih, A. 2020. You're just my type: Mate choice and behavioral types. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 35(9): 823-833.
- Neave, H.W., Costa, J.H., Weary, D.M., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G. 2018. Personality is associated with feeding behavior and performance in dairy calves. *Journal of Dairy Science* 101(8): 1-13.
- Niemelä, P.T., Dingemanse, N.J. 2018. Meta-analysis reveals weak associations between intrinsic state and personality. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Science* 285(1873): doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.2823.
- Oswald, M.E., Drew, R.E., Racine, M., Murdoch, G.K., Robison, B.D. 2012. Is behavioral variation along the bold-shy continuum associated with variation in the stress axis in zebrafish? *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 85(6): 718-728.
- Øverli, Ø., Sørensen, C., Pulman, K.G.T., Pottinger, T.G., Korzan, W., Summers, C. H., Nilsson, G. E. 2007. Evolutionary background for stress-coping styles: relationships between physiological, behavioral, and cognitive traits in nonmammalian vertebrates. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (31): 396-412.
- Palackharry, S., Sadd, B.M., Vogel, L.A., Bowden, R.M. 2017. The effect of environmental temperature on reptilian peripheral blood B cell functions. *Hormones and Behavior* 88: 87-94.
- Parlin, A.F., Nardone, J.A., Dougherty, J.F., Rebein, M. 2018. Activity and movement of free-living box turtles are largely independent of ambient and thermal conditions. *Movement Ecology* 6(1): doi: 10.1186/s40462-018-0130-8.
- Patrício, A.R., Varela, M.R., Barbosa, C., Broderick, A.C., Airaud, M.B.D., Godley, B.J., Regalla, A., Tilley, D., Catry, P. 2018. Nest site selection repeatability of green turtles, *Chelonia mydas*, and consequences for offspring. *Animal Behaviour* 139: 91-102.
- Patrick, S.C., Pinaud, D., Weimerskirch, H. 2017. Boldness predicts an individual's position along an exploration–exploitation foraging trade □ off. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 86(5): 1257-1268.
- Pearse, D.E., Avise, J.C. 2001. Turtle mating systems: behavior, sperm storage, and genetic paternity. *Journal of Heredity* 92(2): 206-211.

- Jacques-Hamilton, R., Hall, M.L., Buttemer, W.A., Matson, K.D., da Silva, A.G., Mulder, R.A., Peters, A. 2017. Personality and innate immune defenses in a wild bird: Evidence for the pace-of-life hypothesis. *Hormones and Behavior* 88: 31-40.
- Pich, J.M., Belden, A.J., Carlson, B.E. 2019. Individual variation in boldness in turtles is consistent across assay conditions and behavioural measures. *Behaviour* 156(10): 1039-1056.
- Pogány, Á., Vincze, E., Szurovecz, Z., Kosztolanyi, A., Barta, Z. 2018. Personality assortative female mating preferences in a songbird. *Behaviour* 155(6): 481-503.
- Preston, V.L., Vannatta, J.M., Klukowski, M.K. 2020. Behavioural and physiological responses to simulated predator-induced stress in the eastern box turtle, *Terrapene carolina carolina*. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 41: 387-398.
- Putman, B.J., Azure, K.R., Swierk, L. 2019. Dewlap size in male water anoles associates with consistent inter-individual variation in boldness. *Current Zoology* 65(2): 189-195.
- R Core Team. 2014. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rakus, K., Ronsmans, M., Vanderplasschen, A. 2017. Behavioral fever in ectothermic vertebrates. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 66: 84-91.
- Raouf, S.A., Smith, L.C., Brown, M.B., Wingfield, J.C., Brown, C.R. 2006. Glucocorticoid hormone levels increase with group size and parasite load in cliff swallows. *Animal Behavior* 71(1): 39-48.
- Réale, D., Reader, S.M., Sol, D., McDougall, P.T., Dingemanse, N.J. 2007. Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biological Reviews* 82(2): 291-318.
- Réale, D., Dingemanse, N.J., Kazem, A.J.N., Wright, J. 2010a. Evolutionary and ecological approaches to the study of personality. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B Biological Sciences* 365(1560): 3937-3946.
- Réale, D., Garant, D., Humphries, M.M., Bergeron, P., Careau, V., Montiglio, P. 2010b. Personality and the emergence of the pace-of-life syndrome concept at the population level. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 365(1560): 4051-4063.
- Refsnider, J.M., Carter, S.E., Diaz, A., Hulbert, A.C., Kramer, G.R., Madden, P., Streby, H.M. 2022. Macro- and microhabitat predictors of nest success and hatchling survival in eastern box turtles (*Terrapene carolina carolina*) and spotted turtles (*Clemmys guttata*) in oak savanna landscapes. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 9: doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.788025.

- Rey, S., Jin, X., Damsgård, B., Bégout, M-L., Mackenzie, S. 2021. Analysis across diverse fish species highlights no conserved transcriptome signature for proactive behaviour. *BMC Genomics* 22(33): doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-27720/v3.
- Rödel, H.G., Monclús, R. 2011. Long-term consequences of early development on personality traits: a study in European rabbits. *Behavioral Ecology* 22(5): 1123-1130.
- Rose, B.M.W., Allender, M.C. 2011. Health assessment of wild eastern box turtles (*Terrapene carolina carolina*) in East Tennessee. *Journal of Herpetological Medicine and Surgery* 21(4): 107-112.
- Saumure, R.A., Herman, T.B., Titman, R.D. 2007. Effects of having and agricultural practices on a declining species: the North American wood turtle, *Glyptemys insculpta*. Biological Conservation 135(4): 565-575.
- Schuett, W., Dall, S.R.X., Baeumer, J., Kloesener, M.H., Nakagawa, S., Beinlich, F., Eggers, T. 2011. Personality variation in a clonal insect: the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum. Developmental Psychobiology* 53(6): 631-40.
- Schuett, W., Dall, S.R.X., Kloesener, M.H., Baeumer, J., Beinlich, F., Eggers, T. 2015. Life-history trade-offs mediate 'personality' variation in two colour morphs of the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. Journal of Animal Ecology 84(1): 90-101.
- Seltmann, M.W., Jaatinen, K., Steele, B.B., Öst, M. 2014. Boldness and stress responsiveness as drivers of nest-site selection in a ground-nesting bird. *Ethology* 120(1): 77-89.
- Shapiro, S.S., Wilk, M.B. 1965. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). *Biometrika* 52(3-4): 591-611.
- Sih, A., Mathot, K.J., Moirón, M., Montiglio, P-O., Wolf, M., Dingemanse, N.J. 2015. Animal personality and state–behaviour feedbacks: a review and guide for empiricists. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 30(1): 50-60.
- Sih, A., Bell, A.M. & Johnson, J.C. 2004a. Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 19(7): 372-378.
- Sih, A., Bell, A.M., Johnson, J.C. 2010. Behavioral syndromes. In: Westneat & Fox (Eds.), *Evolutionary Behavioral Ecology*. Oxford University Press, New York 516-530.
- Sih, A., Bell, A.M., Johnson, J.C. & Ziemba, R.E. 2004b. Behavioral syndromes: an integrative overview. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 79: 241-277.
- Stamps, J., Groothuis, T.G.G. 2010. The development of animal personality: relevance, concepts and perspectives. *Biological Reviews* 85(2): 301-325.

- Stickel, L.F. 1950. Populations and home range relationships of the box turtle, *Terrapene c. carolina* (Linnaeus). *Ecological Monographs* 20(4): 351-378.
- Stickel, L.F. 1989. Home Range Behavior among Box Turtles (*Terrapene c. carolina*) of a Bottomland Forest in Maryland. *Journal of Herpetology* 23(1): 40-44.
- Stromsland, K., Zimmerman, L.M. 2017. Relationships between parasitic infection and natural antibodies, age, and sex in a long-lived vertebrate. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology* 327(6):407-412.
- Thomson, J.S., Watts, P.C., Pottinger, T.G., Sneddon, L.U. 2011. Physiological and genetic correlates of boldness: Characterizing the mechanisms of behavioural variation in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Hormones and Behavior* 59(1): 67-74.
- Tremmel, M., Müller, C. 2013. Insect personality depends on environmental conditions. *Behavioral Ecology* 24(2): 386-392
- Trillmich, F., Müller, T., Müller, C. 2018. Understanding the evolution of personality requires the study of mechanisms behind the development and life history of personality traits. *Biology Letters* 14(2): 20170740.
- Tripathi, M.K., Singh, R. 2014. Differential suppressive effects of testosterone on immune function in fresh water snake, *Natrix piscator*: An *in vitro* study. *PloS ONE* 9(8): doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104431.
- Vargus, R., Mackenzie, S., Rey, S. 2018. 'Love at first sight': The effect of personality and colouration patterns in the reproductive success of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *PloS One* 13(9): e0203320.
- Vervust B., Brecko, J., Herrel, A. 2011. Temperature effects on snapping performance in the common snapper *Chelydra serpentina* (Reptilia, Testudines). *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology* 315A(1): 41-47.
- Videlier, M., Bonneaud, C., Herrel, A. 2018. Intra-individual variation in exploration behaviour in a largely aquatic frog: Effects of sex and personality traits. *Herpetological Journal* 28(1): 10-18.
- Ward-Fear, G., Brown, G.P., Pearson, D.J., West, A., Rollins, L.A., Shine, R. 2018. The ecological and life history correlates of boldness in free-ranging lizards. *Ecosphere* 9(3): e02125.
- West, J.M., Klukowski, M.K. 2016. Demographic characteristics of the eastern box turtle, *Terrapene carolina carolina*, in a Relictual, Suburban, Wetland Habitat of Middle Tennessee, USA. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology* 11(3): 459-466.

- West, J.M., Klukowski, M.K. 2018. Seasonal changes in baseline corticosterone, association with innate immunity, and effects of confinement in free-ranging eastern box turtles, *Terrapene carolina carolina. General and Comparative Endocrinology* 262: 71-80.
- White, S.J., Pascall, D.J., Wilson, A.J. 2019. Towards a comparative approach to the structure of animal personality variation. *Behavioral Ecology* 31(2): 340-351.
- Wilson, A.D.M., Godwin, J-G. J. 2010. Boldness and intermittent locomotion in the bluegill sunfish, *Lepomis macrochirus*. *Behavioral Ecology* 21(1): 57-62.
- Wilson, D.S. 1998. Adaptive individual differences within single populations. *Philosophical Transactions Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences* 353(1366): 199-205.
- Wilson, D.S., Coleman, K., Clark, A.B., Biederman, L. 1993. Shy-bold continuum in pumpkinseed sunfish (*Lepomis gibbosus*): An ecological study of a psychological trait. *Journal of Comparative Psychology* 107(3): 250-260.
- Wolf, D., Vrhovec, M.G., Failing, K., Rossier, C., Hermosilla, C., Pantchev, N. 2014. Diagnosis of gastrointestinal parasites in reptiles: comparison of two coprological methods. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 56(1):44 doi: 10.1186/s13028-014-0044-4.
- Wolf, M., Weissing, F.J. 2012. Animal personalities: consequences for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 27(8): 452-461.
- Wolf, M., van Doorn, G.S., Weissing, F.J. 2008. Evolutionary emergence of responsive and unresponsive personalities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105(41): 15825-15830.
- Zimmerman, L.M. 2020. The reptilian perspective on vertebrate immunity: 10 years of progress. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 223(21): doi: 10.1242/jeb.214171.
- Zimmerman, L.M., Carter, A.W., Bowden, R.M., Vogel, L.A. 2017. Immunocompetence in a long-lived ectothermic vertebrate is temperature dependent but shows no decline in older adults. *Functional Ecology* 31(7): 1383-1389.

APPENDIX

Boldness categorization by simple and compiled methods

The simple and compiled behavior methods of boldness categorization provided similar results to one another. In the simple method, 13 out of 28 turtles were classified as 'bolder' and the remaining 15 as 'less bold' (Fig. 2), whereas in the compiled behavior method half (14) were classified as 'bolder' and the remaining half (14) as 'less bold' (Fig. A1). Both methods agreed on placement of turtle subjects into 'bolder' and 'less bold' categories for all but one individual which had an average eye emergence slightly above the simple methods cutoff for the 'bolder' group but exhibited several 'bold' qualities considered by the compiled behavior method. In other words, all 13 turtles considered as 'bolder' by the simple method were also considered 'bolder' by the compiled behavior method. Similar to eye emergence latency alone, the individual scores assigned to turtles by the compiled behavior method were also significantly repeatable within individuals across the 5 behavioral assays (r = 0.33, CI = [0.051, 0.582]) (Fig. A1).

Behavior	Scores Possible		
The time the turtle spent closed-up during the 3-min handling period	Score 0	Score 0.5	Score 1.0
	If turtle remained in shell for ≥ 120 sec	If turtle remained in shell between 61 and 119 secs	If turtle remained in the shell for ≤ 60 secs
Did the turtle deploy any air walking (kicks) with the front and/or back legs during the 3-min handling period	Score 0	Score 0.5	
	If the turtle did not deploy air walking (kicks)	If the turtle deployed air walking (kicks)	
The latency in seconds for the turtle to extend its head so the eyes surpass the anterior margins of the shell during the observation period	Score 0	Score 0.5	Score 1.0
	If eye emergence did not occur until ≥ 400 secs or at all	If eye emergence occurred between 201 and 399 secs	If eye emergence was ≤ 200 secs
The latency in seconds for the turtle to move 2-body lengths in distance during the observation period	Score 0	Score 0.5	Score 1.0
	If 2-body lengths were not reached until \geq 400 secs had passed or at all	If the turtle reached 2-body lengths between 201 and 399 secs	If 2-body lengths were reached in ≤ 200 secs
Whether or not the turtle crawled 1 m during the observation period	Score 0	Score 0.5	
	If the turtle had not moved 1 m	If the turtle had moved at least 1 m	
Final Score 0 - 4 (sum of all above scores divided by total possible = final score)	If final score is less than half (< 2) then the individual is considered 'less bold'. If final score is more than or equal to half (≥ 2) then the individual is considered 'bolder'		

Table A1: Behaviors and scores for the compiled behavior method of boldness categorization. Higher scores indicate a bolder turtle.



Figure A1: Final scores of individual turtles by the compiled behavior method. Scores ranged very 0 - 4, with 4 being the boldest and 0 the least bold. The threshold line at y = 2 represents the cut-off for boldness categorization by this method, and red dots above this line indicate bolder individuals (average final scores ≥ 2) while blue dots below the line indicate less bold individuals (average final scores < 2). Individual turtles are placed in order from lowest to highest average eye emergence to allow comparison with Fig. 2.

An observed account of aggression

While radio tracking turtles between captures, two observations of interactions between conspecifics were noted. Upon stumbling on these interactions, I retreated approximately 10 m and observed for up to an hour. Of these, two male subjects were once observed in a seemingly one-sided combative interaction (BNX attacking ABK,). During the observed portion of this encounter BNX appeared to be the aggressor while ABK remained submissive. Although both turtles were later found to be 'bolder', behavioral assays suggest BNX may be the slightly bolder of the two due to an average eye emergence that is quicker than that of ABKs (mean of BNX: 52.8 sec, ABK: 98.8 sec). During the observed combat that lasted nearly an hour, BNX continuously bit at the margins of ABK's carapace, occasionally climbing onto and over ABK who remained mostly closed the entire time. The aggressor (BNX) also began bleeding on his mouth/snout, presumably due to repeatedly biting at ABKs carapace. This was the only observed account of aggression that I noted during this field season and within these subjects, with the only other interaction observed between subjects being a copulation event between OWX ('bolder') and HKW ('less bold').



Figure A2: Relationship between the average eye emergence of individual box turtles and their baseline plasma corticosterone (n = 28) concentration. There was no significant correlation between the average eye emergence and plasma corticosterone (Rs = -0.061, p = 0.76).


Figure A3: Relationship between the average eye emergence of individual male box turtles and their baseline plasma testosterone (n = 17) concentration. There was no significant correlation between the average eye emergence and plasma testosterone (Rs = -0.19, p = 0.46).



Figure A4: Relationship between the average eye emergence of individual female box turtles and their baseline plasma progesterone (n = 10) concentrations. There was no significant correlation between the average eye emergence and plasma progesterone (Rs = -0.068, p = 0.85).